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RePORt Of the BOaRD Of DIRectORs 
fOR 2012

Operating envirOnment 
Incap Group’s operating environment continued to be 
challenging 2012. Due to uncertain outlook in global 
economy, many customers postponed bringing new 
products to the market and shortened the forecast 
scope for current products� 

The fact that Incap’s business operations are spread 
over several customer sectors balances the develop-
ment of the company’s revenue� Part of products man-
ufactured for the energy efficiency sector are capital 
goods that have a delayed reaction to market changes. 
although the demand for large motor components 
weakened during the second half of the year, this 
decline was short-lived and the demand returned to the 
normal level at the end of the year� Deliveries of UPs 
equipment ensuring uninterrupted and undisturbed 
current input increased clearly on the previous year�

The general increase in the cost levels affects 
Incap’s earnings trend and the company aims to bal-
ance the situation by distributing production activities 
into several countries of operation. For the most part, 
the company’s production activities are located in low-
cost regions such as India and estonia which have, 
thanks to their moderate wage trends, maintained 
their price competitiveness in 2012.

incap’s grOwth drivers
Incap builds its growth strategy on the basis of the mar-
ket trends and its own strengths. Incap is a technology 
company that focuses on energy efficiency and has indus-
trial operations in India, Estonia and Finland. In addition 
to manufacturing of products, the company’s services 
cover design and other product life-cycle services�

factors that drive the demand for new equipment 
solutions include varied use of renewable energy 
resources and efforts to improve energy efficiency in 
energy production, transfer and use. Increasing envi-
ronmental awareness also increases interest in equip-
ment that involves advanced automation and control 
engineering. These global trends boost the growth of 
Incap’s business operations, because the design and 

manufacturing of electrotechnical equipment are 
among the company’s core competencies� 

equipment manufacturers wish to concentrate on 
their own core expertise and outsource an increasing 
proportion of manufacturing of products to partners. 
In order to improve the efficiency of their operations, 
equipment manufacturers try to decrease the number 
of their partners and prefer contract manufacturers 
whose service covers an extensive part of the product 
life-cycle and who are also capable of providing local 
service near their main markets. 

Economic growth continues in Asia and Incap is 
here in a good position thanks to its Indian operations. 
In order to ensure the company’s competitive edge, 
equipment manufacturing and product design are cen-
tralised in low-cost regions� 

Revenue and eaRnings in 2012
Incap Group’s revenue in 2012 was EUR 64.1 million, 
or about 7% less than in 2011. Deliveries to energy effi-
ciency customers remained at a good level, and the 
demand for rotor components as well as for inverter 
and UPS products grew clearly. Revenue generated by 
the manufacturing of equipment for well-being tech-
nology decreased by approximately 33%. Underlying 
reasons include the decline in the general market situ-
ation and the elimination of slot machines and certain 
volume products from the production programme 
after the closure of the Helsinki plant. Increasing 
demand in the energy efficiency sector partly compen-
sated for the decline in the revenue from well-being 
technology customers. Business developed particu-
larly well in India where revenue grew by 37%.

Incap’s profitability improved further, but the full-
year operating result (EBIT) remained negative, EUR 
-0.7 million. Operating result was nearly a EUR 1 million 
higher than in the previous year� 

the earnings trend was good especially in the third 
quarter when the operating result (EBIT) was satisfac-
tory, or 1.8% of revenue. The profitability trend in India 
was strong during the full year� 
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material costs and other production costs 
decreased compared to the previous year, and fixed 
costs went down as well� On the other hand, the result 
was weighed down by costs that were related to the 
closure of the Helsinki plant and arose from partly 
overlapping resources and the transfer of production 
and machines� 

measures aimed at improving the cost structure 
included the reorganisation of Group Services and the 
centralisation of tasks to Incap’s Tallinn office. 

net financial expenses were EUR 0.8 million (EUR 
2.4 million). Financial expenses decreased from the 
previous year and amounted to EUR 2.2 million (EUR 
2.6). Financial income was EUR 1.4 million, of which 1.0 
million arose in connection with the decrease in the 
redemption value of the convertible loan. Depreciation 
stood at EUR 1.5 million (EUR 2.0 million). 

net profit/loss for the period was EUR -4.9 million 
(EUR -4.0 million). This was affected by the non-recur-
ring write-down on deferred tax assets� earnings per 
share amounted to EUR -0.25 (EUR -0.21).

WRite-doWn on defeRRed tax assets 
and equity
Incap corporation has approved tax losses, which can 
be utilised in the years 2013–2022. Parent company’s 
deferred tax assets of EUR 3.3 million have been 
recorded as an expense in the financial statements for 
2012, because there are no longer IFRS-based prereq-
uisites for keeping deferred tax assets in the balance 
sheet based on IAS 12. 

Despite the write-down the company’s manage-
ment trusts that the deferred tax assets can be utilised 
against the parent company’s taxable income in the 
future. The demand for energy efficiency technology 
products manufactured at the Vaasa plant is estimated 
to develop favourably in the future, too, and ongoing 
restructuring will also improve the parent company’s 
profitability.

As the operations of the Indian subsidiary have 
been profitable, approximately EUR 0.2 million of its 
tax assets has been utilised in 2012. After this, the con-
solidated balance sheet contains EUR 0.6 million of 
deferred tax assets relating to the Indian subsidiary. 
According to the impairment testing, their value has 
not been impaired, and on the basis of calculations, it 
is probable that the Indian subsidiary will accumulate 
sufficient taxable income to utilise its deferred tax 
assets� 

as a result of the write-down recorded in the par-
ent company’s and the Group’s balance sheet, the 
Group’s equity becomes negative and the Group’s 
equity ratio is -10.3%. The parent company’s equity 
capital is EUR 8.1 million, or 39% of the share capital. 
the capital loan according to the companies act, chap-
ter 12 of EUR 0.6 million strengthens the parent com-
pany’s shareholders’ equity, and taking this into 
account, the parent company’s equity capital is eUR 
1.6 million less than the minimum capital required by 
the companies act�

Due to the equity of Incap Group’s parent company 
decreasing to less than half of the share capital, the 
Board of Directors of Incap corporation has taken steps 
to convene the Annual General meeting to decide on 
measures to consolidate the company’s operations. 
the Board of Directors of Incap together with the man-
agement is preparing an action plan to ensure the 
company’s profitability in 2013. To improve the capital 
structure the Board of Directors will also propose to 
the Annual General meeting to decide on a rights issue 
in spring 2013. 

restructuring prOcess 
The company has continued the strategic restructuring 
process launched in 2006. In 2012 the company’s plant 
network was reduced by one company, after which the 
company will have one production plant in each of its 
countries of operation. The Kuressaare plant in Estonia 
was developed, and the extension project nearly dou-
bled the area of its facilities. The new facilities make it 
possible to increase the efficiency of operations and 
improve profitability. Another significant structural 
change carried out during the financial period was the 
shift in focus of Group Services to Estonia and person-
nel reductions in Group Services. 

As the negotiations on the sale of the sheet-metal 
operations of the Helsinki plant did not lead to a sat-
isfactory result and no sustainable solutions were 
found for improving profitability through other meas-
ures, Incap decided in January 2012 to close down the 
Helsinki plant and transfer the production to the com-
pany’s other plants in Vaasa and Kuressaare� 

The production operations at the Helsinki plant 
ended in august, at which point the sheet-metal 
mechanics manufacturing had been transferred partly 
to Incap’s plant in Vaasa and partly to subcontractors. 
manufacturing of some products was discontinued 
entirely in connection with the closure of the plant due 
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to a tendering carried out by a customer among other 
things�

The centralisation of production increases the 
capacity utilisation rate and lowers fixed costs. Incap 
estimates that the closure of the plant and the cen-
tralisation of production will bring savings of about 
EUR 1.0 million in 2013, mainly in personnel expenses. 
Decrease in production costs enhances also the com-
petitive edge of our customers’ products. The aim of 
centralisation is to create better prerequisites for 
developing the company’s operations, too.

The result of 2011 included a non-recurring provi-
sion of approximately EUR 0.6 million for the closure 
of the Helsinki plant. By the end of the year 2012, EUR 
0.6 million of this provision was used. 

Some of the production equipment of the Helsinki 
plant were transferred to Vaasa and some were sold� 
net income from the sales of equipment – EUR 0.4 
million in total – has been recorded in other operating 
income

CaPital exPendituRe
capital expenditure totalled EUR 0.1 million in 2012 
(EUR 0.3 million), consisting mainly of replacement 
investments that aimed to develop of production at 
the Vaasa and Tumkur plants in particular. According 
to the company’s estimate, it is possible to grow busi-
ness operations significantly with current production 
capacity, without major investments�

quality assurance and 
envirOnmental issues
all of Incap Group’s plants have environmental man-
agement and quality assurance systems certified by 
Det norske Veritas. Incap’s environmental manage-
ment system complies with ISO 14001:2004, and its 
quality assurance system complies with ISO 9001:2008. 
In addition, the Kuressaare plant has ISO 13485:2003 
quality certification for the manufacture of medical 
devices�

the systems are used as tools for continuous 
improvement� the quality assurance system of the 
Tumkur plant was included in Incap Group’s “multisite” 
certification in 2012. 

Balance sheet, financing and  
cash flOw
The balance sheet total was EUR 29.3 million (EUR 39.3 
million). The Group’s equity at the close of the report 

period was negative, EUR -3.0 million (EUR 1.3 million). 
The parent company’s equity capital is EUR 8.1 million, 
or 39% of the share capital (EUR 12.8, 63%). 

The Group’s equity ratio was negative, -10.3% 
(3.3%).

liabilities totalled EUR 32.3 million (EUR 38.0 mil-
lion), of which EUR 20.5 million (EUR 24.9 million) 
were interest-bearing liabilities.

Interest-bearing net liabilities decreased from the 
comparison period and were EUR 19.8 million (EUR 
24.5 million), and the gearing ratio was -659% 
(1,868%). 

The company has long-term debt of EUR 2.5 mil-
lion, of which EUR 1.9 million of the 2012 convertible 
loans and EUR 0.6 million of the capital loan.

On 31 December 2012, Incap Group’s current inter-
est-bearing loans and borrowings stood at EUR 18.0 
million. Of this amount, EUR 14.5 million is a loan from 
credit institutions, of which EUR 4.1 million is directed 
towards the Indian subsidiary. In Finland and Estonia, 
the parent company uses factoring financing which is 
part of current liabilities. 

Of the company’s loans, a part of finance leases 
and a part of the 2012 convertible loan and the capital 
loan are classified as non-current. Other bank loans 
are included in current financial liabilities on the basis 
of the loan period or due to the breach of covenants. 

On 31 December 2012, Incap’s loans from credit 
institutions and other loans totalled EUR 20.5 million. 
Of this, EUR 14.5 million was loans from credit institu-
tions (31 December 2011: EUR 17.0 million) and EUR 6.0 
million other loans (31 December 2011: EUR 7.8 mil-
lion). 

From the loans from financial institutions, EUR 10.3 
million was granted by the Finnish bank to bank loans 
and lines of credit in use. Of the Finnish bank’s credit 
line and factoring credit line, EUR 5.3 million was in 
use and EUR 4.2 million was unused on 31 December 
2012. For operations in India and Estonia, the balances 
of bank loans and credit line totalled EUR 4.1 million. 
Finnfund’s EUR 1.9 million investment in Incap’s oper-
ations in India is included in the loans from credit insti-
tutions.

Other loans (EUR 6.0 million) include convertible 
loans, capital loan as well as finance lease liabilities in 
Finland and Estonia. The amount of the convertible 
loan of 2007 at the end of the financial year was EUR 
2.4 million, of which a part was reorganised after the 
end of the financial year and the remainder of EUR 1.0 
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million is due 30 June 2013. The convertible loan 2012 
amounts to EUR 2.9 million and will mature on 25 may 
2017. Other loans are the Finnish and Estonian finance 
leases, totalling EUR 0.1 million, and the EUR 0.6 mil-
lion instalment of the finnish capital loan, drawn in 
December 2012. The last instalment of the loan from 
the municipality of Sotkamo, approximately EUR 
43,000, was repaid in 2012. 

At the end of financial period, EUR 12.6 million of 
the loans were guaranteed, and the rest were unguar-
anteed. The securities for these loans are the EUR 12.1 
million mortgages on company assets, a EUR 1.5 million 
mortgage on the production facilities in Vuokatti, Fin-
land and a EUR 0.7 million mortgage on the production 
facilities in India. 

Incap’s liabilities for debts reduced in may 2012 
when the value of the 2007 convertible loan decreased 
by approximately EUR 1.0 million in connection with 
the financing arrangement. The decrease in the value 
resulted from the fact that the company committed 
itself to redeeming some of the loan units of the con-
vertible loan at a price that is on average 27% lower 
than the nominal value of the loan units� 

During 2012, approximately EUR 0.2 million of 
deferred tax assets have been utilised from the con-
solidated balance sheet on the basis of the taxable 
income accumulated by the Indian subsidiary. On 31 
December 2012, confirmed tax losses for which no 
deferred tax asset was recognised amounted to eUR 
11.2 million.

The Group’s quick ratio was 0.5 (0.4), and the cur-
rent ratio was 0.8 (0.7). 

The company was able to reduce stock value and 
free capital from inventories. During the financial 
period, the value of inventories decreased from eUR 
11.4 million at the beginning of 2012 to EUR 9.4 million. 
The increase in the demand in the energy efficiency 
sector increased inventories especially at the Indian 
plant. On the other hand, the closure of the Helsinki 
plant decreased the entire Group’s inventories by 
approximately 1.6 million when compared to the end 
of 2011.

cash flow from operations was positive: EUR 2.4 
million (EUR -3.1 million). On 31 December 2012, the 
Group’s cash and cash equivalents totalled EUR 0.6 
million (EUR 0.4 million). The change in cash and cash 
equivalents showed an increase of EUR 0.2 million (a 
decrease of EUR 0.4 million).

Aspects related to the Group’s cash flow, financing 
and liquidity are also described in the section “Short-
term risks and factors of uncertainty concerning opera-
tions”. 

PRivate PlaCement in aPRil 2012
On 11 April 2012, the company’s Board of Directors 
used the authorisation issued by the Annual General 
meeting held in 2011 and offered a total of 2,168,100 
new shares to the major shareholders of the company� 
The private placement was a part of the financing 
arrangement prepared by the company, aiming to 
improve the company’s equity ratio and solvency and 
to ensure the continued development of the company.

The share issue was subscribed in full at the price 
of EUR 0.35 per share. In addition to four major share-
holders, shares were subscribed by all members of the 
Board of Directors and the President and ceO of the 
Group�

The received subscription amount, approximately 
EUR 759,000 in total, has been recognised in the 
reserve for invested unrestricted equity� the new 
shares were registered in the Trade Register on 18 July 
2012, increasing the total number of the company’s 
shares to 20,848,980. In order to enter the new shares 
for public trading, Incap drew up a prospectus, and the 
new shares were admitted to public trading at the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange on 18 September 2012 after 
the prospectus was approved�

ConveRtible loan 2007
The convertible loan of EUR 6.75 million, issued by 
Incap in 2007, matured on 25 may 2012. In may 2012, 
the company agreed upon re-financing for the convert-
ible loan so that the company redeems the loan units 
of some of the convertible loan’s holders while a por-
tion of the holders convert their loan units to a new 
convertible loan. Some of the redemptions were car-
ried out in may–June 2012, and the amount to be 
redeemed by 31 December 2012 was EUR 2,405,950.27. 

In January 2013, after the end of the financial 
period, Incap negotiated the final redemption of the 
convertible loan. In January 2013, the company 
redeemed out of the remaining loan units a total of 
EUR 1.0 million. Furthermore, a part of the loan with 
respective interest, i.e. a total of EUR 0.4 million, was 
converted to Incap’s shares by means of a private 
placement to one holder of the convertible loan. The 
final redemption of the 2007 convertible loan, EUR 1.0 
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million including interest, will be settled by the end of 
June 2013.

ConveRtible loan 2012 
In the redemption arrangements of the convertible 
loan issued in 2007, a portion of the holders converted 
their loan units to a new convertible loan. The Board 
of Directors approved subscriptions for this new loan 
on 25 may 2012. The issue rate of the convertible loan 
is 100% and an annual fixed interest of 7% will be paid 
on the loan after each 12-month period. The subscrip-
tion price of the new loan was formed in the following 
way: one loan unit in the 2007 convertible loan can be 
converted into one loan unit in the 2012 convertible 
loan. The loan amount is EUR 2,916,000 and a total of 
540 loan units with the nominal value of EUR 5,400 
were granted out of the loan. The convertible loan will 
expire on 25 may 2017. 

persOnnel 
At the end of 2012, the Incap Group had a payroll of 
614 employees (735). Some 55% (51%) of the personnel 
worked in India, 28% (27%) in Estonia and 17% (22%) 
in Finland. The main personnel reductions took place 
in Finland due to the closure of the Helsinki plant and 
the streamlining of Group services� 

At the end of the year, 170 of Incap’s employees 
were women and 444 were men. Permanently 
employed staff totalled 414, and the number of fixed-
term employees was 200. The company had two part-
time employment contracts at the end of the year. The 
average age of the personnel was 33.5 years.

cOmpany management and 
OrganisatiOn
The company’s President and cEO during the financial 
period was Sami mykkänen. In addition to the cEO, 
the Group’s management team included Kimmo 
Akiander (Business Unit Well-being, until 29 February 
2012), Kirsi Hellsten (Human Resources, until 31 
October 2012), mikko Hirvinen (Special Projects), Jari 
Koppelo (Business Unit Energy efficiency and, from 1 
march 2012, Business Unit Well-being), Sami Kyllönen 
(Production, Europe), Kirsti Parvi (Finance and 
administration) and Hannele Pöllä (communications). 

In addition to the members of the actual manage-
ment team, the extended management team included 
Siret Kegel (Quality), murthy munipalli (Energy effi-

ciency Asia), Pekka laitila (materials management), 
Päivi luotola (IT) and marko Tapaninaho (Engineering).

annual geneRal meeting 2012
Incap corporation’s Annual General meeting (AGm) 
was held in Helsinki on 11 April 2012. The AGm adopted 
the financial statements for the financial period that 
ended on 31 December 2011. In accordance with the 
proposal of the Board of Directors, the aGm decided 
that no dividend be distributed for the financial period 
and that the loss for the financial period (EUR 
2,372,981.70) be recognised in equity. 

authOrisatiOn Of the BOard Of 
directOrs
On 11 April 2012, the Annual General meeting author-
ised the Board of Directors to decide during one year 
after the Annual General meeting to issue a maximum 
of 9,300,000 new shares either against payment or 
without payment� Of the new shares, a maximum of 
300,000 shares can be used for the option rights of the 
company’s remuneration and compensation system. 

The Board of Directors exercised the authorisation 
in connection with the company’s financing arrange-
ment on 25 may 2012 when a portion of the holders 
of the convertible loan issued in 2007 converted their 
loan units to a new convertible loan. The new convert-
ible loan includes a right to convert loan units to a 
maximum total of 7,112,195 new shares in the company. 

At the end of the financial period 2012, the Board 
of Directors had a total of 2,187,805 unused shares 
from the authorisation granted by the Annual General 
meeting. The Board of Directors exercised the author-
isation on 30 January 2013 and directed one holder of 
the convertible loan 2007 the company’s new shares 
against the redemption of the convertible loan. After 
this the Board of Directors have an unused authorisa-
tion for a total of 490,519 shares.

BOard Of directOrs and auditOr
The Annual General meeting held on 11 April 2012 re-
elected Raimo Helasmäki, Kalevi laurila, Susanna 
miekk-oja and lassi noponen as members of the Board 
of Directors and elected matti Jaakola as a new mem-
ber. From among its members, the Board elected 
Kalevi laurila as chair and lassi noponen as Deputy 
chair. The secretary of the Board was Anu Kaskinen, 
ll.m. The Board convened 49 times in 2012, and the 
average attendance rate was 88%.
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The auditor was auditing firm Ernst & Young Oy 
with Jari Karppinen, Authorised Public Accountant, as 
the principal auditor�

repOrt On cOrpOrate gOvernance
Incap will release a report on the company’s corporate 
governance in compliance with the Securities market 
Act as a separate document, in connection with the 
publication of the report of the Board of Directors and 
the annual report�

shares and sharehOlders
Incap corporation has one series of shares, and the 
number of shares at the end of the period is 
20,848,980. During the financial period, the share 
price varied between EUR 0.15 and 0.65 (EUR 0.37 and 
0.64). The closing price for the year was EUR 0.19 (EUR 
0.42). During the report period, the trading volume 
was 2,952,411 shares, or 14.2% of outstanding shares 
(746,382, or 4.0%). 

At the end of the financial period, Incap had 1,159 
shareholders (1,053). nominee-registered or foreign 
owners held 0.5% (0.5%) of all shares. The company’s 
market capitalisation on 31 December 2012 was EUR 
4.0 million (7.8 million). The company does not hold 
any of its own shares�

At the end of the financial period, the members of 
Incap corporation’s Board of Directors and the Presi-
dent and cEO and their interest parties owned a total 
of 4,512,174 shares, or approximately 21.6% of the 
company’s shares outstanding�

shaRe-based inCentive system 2009
The option scheme implemented in 2009 includes a 
total of 600,000 stock options entitling their holders 
to subscribe for an equal number of Incap shares. The 
stock options are broken into three categories: 2009A, 
2009B and 2009c. The subscription price for all stock 
options is EUR 1. The subscription period is from 1 April 
2010 to 31 January 2014 for 2009A stock options and 
from 1 April 2011 to 31 January 2014 for 2009B and 
2009c stock options. The President and cEO has 
received 100,000 A stock options and 100,000 B stock 
options. The members of the management Team have 
received a total of 129,000 c stock options. 

The proportion of shares to be subscribed on the 
basis of stock options is up to 1.6% of the company’s 
shares and votes after a possible increase in share 
capital. Undistributed and returned stock options will 

be given to Euro-ketju Oy, a subsidiary fully owned by 
Incap, and the Board of Directors will make a separate 
decision on distributing these.

annOuncements in accOrdance with 
seCtion 10 of ChaPteR 9 of the 
securities market act On a change in 
hOldings 
On 16 April 2012, Incap announced that after the reg-
istration of the new shares issued in the private place-
ment of Incap corporation, the holdings of Kalevi 
laurila of Incap corporation’s shares and votes will 
exceed 5%. Furthermore, on 21 September 2012, the 
company announced that the holdings of Oy Ingman 
Finance Ab of Incap corporation’s shares and votes 
decreased below 10% after several consecutive trades. 

infOrmatiOn related tO the liquidity 
risk and cOntinuity Of OperatiOns in 
the inteRim RePoRt foR JanuaRy–June
On 22 may 2012, Incap published a stock exchange 
release with regard to financing arrangements that 
were related to the extension of the financing agree-
ments, the granting of a new bank loan and a rear-
rangement of the company’s convertible loan. In its 
interim report for January–June published on 31 July 
2012, the company provided information on the final 
result of the negotiations and financial risks and 
referred to information in the financial statements for 
2011. However, the information about financing agree-
ments provided in the financial statements was no 
longer up-to-date, as the financing agreements had 
been partially renegotiated. The interim report did not 
contain liquidity risk details as required by the IFRS 7 
standard and did not comment, in a manner required 
by recommendations, on the continuity of operations 
in the company’s prevailing financial position. Due to 
these inadequacies information in the interim report 
did not meet the requirements of the IAS 34 standard. 

Information missing from the interim report was 
presented in the stock exchange release published on 
14 September 2012 and in the prospectus. The release 
provided more information about the company’s loans 
and related covenants, risks related to liquidity, the 
sufficiency of the working capital for the next 12 
months and aspects related to continuity of opera-
tions. The most significant risks in respect of continuity 
of the company’s operations were related to the suc-
cess of the share issue to be arranged, the fulfilment 
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of the conditions set by the bank in order to draw the 
second instalment of additional financing, the fulfil-
ment of the covenant levels set for the continuation 
of loans from credit institutions, sufficiency of the 
actions to improve profitability and inventories, as well 
as development of the company’s customers’ market 
situation and demand.

risk management 
The Risk management Policy approved by the Incap 
Board classifies risks as risks connected to the operating 
environment, operational risks and damage and fund-
ing risks. Risk management at Incap is mainly focused 
on risks that threaten the company’s business objec-
tives and continuity of operations. In order to improve 
its business opportunities, Incap is willing to take on 
managed risks within the scope of the Group’s risk man-
agement capabilities. Incap regularly reviews its insur-
ance policies as part of its risk management system.

shoRt-teRm Risks and faCtoRs of 
uncertainty cOncerning OperatiOns 
General risks related to Incap’s business operations 
and sector include the development of customer 
demand, price competition in contract manufacturing, 
successful acquisition of new customers, availability 
and price development of raw material and compo-
nents, sufficiency of funding, liquidity and exchange 
rate fluctuations. 

The most significant short-term risks are associated 
with the continuity of operations and sufficiency of 
funding�

Continuity of operations
The most significant risks related to the continuity of 
operations are:
• the arrangement of financing for the redemption 

of the convertible loan maturing on 30 June 
2013, either through a share issue or another 
arrangement 

• the fulfilment of the conditions set by the bank 
for additional financing

• the fulfilment of the covenant levels set for the 
continuation of loans from credit institutions

• the sufficiency of the working capital
• the execution of the actions to improve 

profitability and inventories

• global economic development and its impact on 
the company’s customers’ market situation and 
demand�

financing needed for the redemption of the 2007 
convertible loan
The convertible loan of EUR 6.75 million, issued by 
Incap in 2007, matured on 25 may 2012. In may 2012, 
the company agreed upon re-financing for the convert-
ible loan so that the company redeems the loan units 
of some of the convertible loan’s holders while a por-
tion of the holders convert their loan units to a new 
convertible loan. Some of the redemptions were car-
ried out in may–June 2012, and the amount to be 
redeemed by 31 December 2012 was EUR 2,405,950.27. 

In January 2013, after the end of the financial 
period, Incap concluded its negotiations concerning 
the final redemption of the convertible loan. In January 
2013, the company redeemed out of the remaining 
loan units a total of EUR 1.0 million. Furthermore, a 
part of the loan with respective interest, i.e. a total of 
EUR 0.4 million, was converted to Incap’s shares by 
means of a private placement to one holder of the 
convertible loan. The final redemption of the 2007 
convertible loan, EUR 1.0 million including interest, will 
be settled by the end of June 2013.

according to the provisions of the agreement, one 
subscriber of the 2012 convertible loan, whose loan unit 
in the convertible loan is EUR 999,000, has the right to 
terminate the financing agreement in case the redemp-
tion of the 2007 convertible loan has not taken place by 
the end of June 2013. This loan unit of the 2012 convert-
ible loan has been recognised in short-term loans.

Withdrawal of the second instalment of additional 
financing granted
In the spring 2012, Incap negotiated a financing 
arrangement in which the company’s Finnish financing 
banks renewed the maturing loans and granted alto-
gether EUR 2.5 million in a new loan. Of this new loan, 
EUR 1 million was drawn down in July 2012 and EUR 
0.75 million after the end of the financial period in 
January 2013. The remaining part of the loan can be 
drawn by 29 July 2013 after a separate confirmation of 
the bank.

loan financing and covenants
at the end of the financial period, Incap’s loans 
amounted to EUR 20.5 million. 

loans, credit line and factoring credit line granted 
by a Finnish bank totalled EUR 10.3 million on 31 
December 2012. These loans involve the following 
covenants:

equity ratio
net ibd/ 

eBitda

31 December 2012 at least 10% up to 7

30 June 2013 onwards at least 15% up to 5

The covenants were not met on 31 December 2012. On 
this date, the company’s equity ratio was -10.3% and 
net IBD/EBITDA was 18.7. The bank has the right to 
terminate the agreements to expire after 60 days if 
any covenant is not met on the testing date. On 28 
January 2013, the company received a written confir-
mation from the bank that the bank will not exercise 
its right to terminate the loans, even though the cov-
enants were not met on 31 December 2012. The cov-
enants will be tested next on 30 June 2013 and after 
that every six months� 

In addition to the covenants mentioned above, the 
EUR 1 million additional loan withdrawn by Incap in 
July 2012 incorporates the bank’s right to terminate 
the loan in case the redemption of the 2007 convert-
ible loan has not taken place by the end of June 2013 
as agreed. The bank has approved the financing 
arrangement made after the end of the financial 
period and announced that it will not exercise its right 
to terminate the additional loan agreement.

On the basis of the forecast prepared by Incap on 
25 February 2013, the covenants mentioned above will 
not be met on the next testing date, 30 June 2013. The 
company is continuing the negotiations with the bank 
in order to mitigate the covenants and to rearrange 
the financing. 

Payment arrangement for tax liabilities
Incap has reached an agreement with the finnish tax 
Administration on the payment arrangement related 
to overdue value-added taxes, withholding taxes and 
social security contributions. The total amount of the 
tax liabilities within the scope of this arrangement is 
approximately EUR 1.2 million, and according to the 
agreement, the last payment will take place in August 
2014. According to the provisions of the agreement, if 
an instalment is late, the Finnish Tax Administration 
has the right to terminate the agreement with imme-
diate effect.
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that the covenants related to the financing agreements 
are met. Should the covenants not be met and the 
financiers inform the company that they will make use 
of the covenants to terminate the agreements, the 
company would need to initiate negotiations on the 
rearrangement of funding and on gaining new equity 
or debt financing. 

assets held for sale
The company owns a plant property in Vuokatti, Fin-
land, built in 1978–2001 and with an approximate area 
of 8,700 m². The property and the related loans have 
been recognised as available for sale since the financial 
statements for 2010. In August 2012, Incap signed a 
5-year lease contract for the property and continues 
measures aimed at selling the property� 

development of customers’ market situation and 
demand
Demand for Incap’s services as well as the company’s 
financial position are affected by international eco-
nomic trends and economic trends among Incap’s 
customer industries. In 2013, the business environ-
ment is estimated to develop steadily in the sectors 
where Incap and its customers operate, and the gen-
eral economic uncertainty has not had – at least not 
yet – a particularly negative effect on demand from or 
the solvency of the company’s customers� 

the company’s sales are spread over several cus-
tomer sectors, which balances out the impact of the 
economic trends in different industrial sectors. In 2012, 
the biggest single customer’s share of the Group rev-
enue was 17%. The company’s sector, contract manu-
facturing, is highly competitive, and there are major 
pressures on cost level management� the cost structure 
has been made more flexible by distributing production 
activities into several countries: Finland, Estonia and 
India. The focus of production activities is in countries 
where wage and general cost levels are competitive. 

events after the end Of  
the financial periOd
adjustment of operations and co-operative 
negotiations
In January 2013, Incap started co-operative negotia-
tions, in accordance with the Act on co-operation 
within Undertakings, with both the personnel of its 
Vaasa plant and the personnel working in its Group 
Services in Finland. The outcome of the negotiations 

in Vaasa is that, if necessary, the personnel of the 
Vaasa plant will be laid off temporarily for a maximum 
of 90 days. This will take place by the end of June. 
Instead of immediate temporary lay-offs, the plant’s 
operations were adjusted to demand by continuing 
training and increasing multi-skills of the personnel. 
need for temporary lay-offs will be evaluated weekly 
based on the order book. The negotiations with the 
Group Services are still ongoing, and their outcome is 
estimated to affect the employment of a maximum of 
14 employees.

Rearrangement of the convertible bond 2007 
On 17 January 2013, Incap published a release about a 
financing arrangement that was related to the redemp-
tion of the convertible loan issued in 2007. Incap 
redeemed out of the remaining loan units a total of 
EUR 1.0 million in cash payment in January 2013. Fur-
thermore, a part of the loan with respective interest, 
i.e. a total of EUR 0.4 million, was converted to Incap’s 
shares by means of a private placement to one holder 
of the convertible loan. The final redemption of the 
2007 convertible loan, EUR 1.0 million, will be settled 
by the end of June 2013.

Capital loan
In connection with the negotiations concerning the 
redemption of the convertible loan, three of Incap 
corporation’s major shareholders granted the com-
pany a capital loan of EUR 1.05 million, with a loan 
period of three years and at an interest rate of 10%. Of 
this capital loan, EUR 0.6 million was recorded in the 
financial statements for 2012. The loan conditions 
include the right to set off eventual subscription price 
of shares in a share issue arranged by the company. 
Kalevi laurila, who is closely related to the company, 
is one of the shareholders who granted the capital 
loan�

Of the capital loan, EUR 0.6 million was drawn on 
28 December 2012 and recorded in the financial state-
ments for 2012. According to the loan conditions, upon 
the liquidation or the bankruptcy of the parent com-
pany, the capital and the interest may only be paid at 
a lower privilege in comparison to all other debts. 
Otherwise the capital or the interest may be returned 
only for the part that the unrestricted equity and 
capital loans of the parent company at the time of the 
payment exceed balance sheet losses confirmed for 
the parent company’s latest financial period or 

the sufficiency of the working capital
To assess its liquidity, Incap has prepared a 12-month 
cash flow projection for the Group, based on its per-
formance forecast for 2013 and the actual turnover of 
its sales receivables, accounts payable and inventories. 
Since the profit levels used in calculations do not 
reflect the actual past development, there is an ele-
ment of remarkable uncertainty associated with them. 
On the basis of this cash flow projection, Incap’s work-
ing capital will not cover the requirement for the next 
12 months at the time of the publication of this finan-
cial statements. According to the company’s estimate, 
approximately EUR 4–6 million of additional working 
capital is needed� 

However, the company’s working capital will be 
sufficient for the next 12 months if the following crite-
ria are met:
• the company’s potential share issue and 

financing arrangements succeed as planned, so 
that the company obtains funds for working 
capital funding and the final redemption of the 
2007 convertible loan in June 2013; and

• the bank accepts the terms and conditions for 
the drawing down of the additional loan; and 

• the goals for the company’s result and inventory 
turnover rate are achieved; and

• the covenants for the company’s loans from 
credit institutions are met, or, should the 
covenants not be met, the bank decides not to 
exercise its right to terminate the loan 
agreements�

Incap’s management is confident that the share issue 
planned by the company will succeed and the com-
pany will be able to redeem the convertible loan as 
agreed. The strategic restructuring has been carried 
out as planned; the company closed down the Helsinki 
plant in the summer 2012 and transferred its produc-
tion to other units. In addition, in January 2013 the 
company started co-operative negotiations with the 
Group services personnel, with the aim of reorganising 
the company’s administration and improving the effi-
ciency of operations significantly. These measures and 
other development projects are expected to improve 
profitability. In addition, the company will continue to 
take measures to ensure that the goals for the com-
pany’s result and inventory turnover are achieved� 

Thus, the company estimates that it will be able to 
cover any possible working capital deficit and ensure 



RePORt Of the BOaRD Of DIRectORs

9

included in more recent financial statements. no secu-
rity has been provided for interest on the capital or for 
the loan� the loan interest is recognised as an expense 
on a time apportionment basis. Unless the prerequi-
sites set in the Finnish limited liability companies Act 
for payment of interest are fulfilled, the interest may 
not encumber the result for the financial period. The 
interest is presented as interest liability in the notes 
for the parent company. In the consolidated IFRS finan-
cial statements, the accumulated interest of the capi-
tal loan is recognised as an expense for the financial 
period� the loan is due for repayment at the latest on 
31 December 2015.

Private placement
On 30 January, the Board of Directors of Incap corpora-
tion arranged a private placement with which the com-
pany redeemed a part of the convertible loan issued in 
2007. One holder of the convertible loan was given, as 
compensation for the holder’s loan units, altogether 
1,697,286 new shares in the company. The imputed 
subscription price of the shares was EUR 0.22 per share. 
The new shares equal approximately 8.1% of the total 
number of shares of the company before the share 
issue. After the registration of the new shares, the total 
number of Incap corporation’s shares was 22,546,266.

Withdrawal of additional bank loan
On 30 January 2013, Incap finalised the financing nego-
tiations with a Finnish bank and drew down one half 
of the loan of EUR 1.5 million granted to the company. 
The remaining loan instalment can be drawn down by 
29 July 2013 after a separate confirmation given by the 
bank. In addition, the company has further agreed on 
other financing arrangements that strengthen the 
working capital. As a result of these measures, Incap’s 
cash in hand was increased by EUR 1.2 million.

strategy and OBjectives Of  
the cOmpany
In 2013, Incap’s principal objectives are to improve 
profitability of business operations by enhancing 
operational efficiency and to improve the company’s 
financial situation through a share issue. 

Demand in the company’s strategic customer seg-
ments is expected to develop evenly, although the 
market outlook is typically very short-term. Incap’s 
goal is to expand deliveries to existing customers to 
cover more comprehensive solutions and a broader 

range of end products. customer acquisition will focus 
especially on design and manufacture of equipment 
that improve energy efficiency, the demand of which 
is expected to increase strongly�

long-term growth prospects are good especially in 
the field of energy efficiency but also in well-being 
technology where new, innovative and promising 
products are constantly being introduced to the mar-
ket. many new growing companies have adopted the 
strategy of focusing on core functions and outsourcing 
all production activities. For these companies, Incap is 
able to offer the entire production process or compre-
hensive product integration.

the company will strengthen the role of product 
design and the cooperation networks launched with 
design companies will be continued. The company 
develops preparedness for comprehensive design 
cooperation with selected customers. In its own prod-
uct design, the company will focus on equipment 
related to energy production, storage and supply – an 
area in which the company already has a great deal of 
expertise. A long-term aim is to introduce own prod-
ucts on the market and into volume production and to 
sell them under the customer’s own brand.

The company will continue to enhance the effi-
ciency of its operations and aims to make use of global 
opportunities. materials management is a particular 
development area in the future, too, as procurement 
function and management of material flows are very 
significant for the company’s profitability. By reorgan-
ising Group Services, the efficiency of group functions 
will be improved while the role of the Tallinn office in 
corporate control will be strengthened.

With the previously initiated actions for improved 
efficiency, Incap intends to cut costs by a total of 
approximately EUR 3.3 million in 2012‒2013, compared 
to 2011, by enhancing the efficiency of material sourc-
ing, closing down the Helsinki plant, and centralising 
Group services in estonia� 

there is no need for major investments as the com-
pany estimates that, with its present production struc-
ture, it will be able to achieve an annual revenue of up 
to EUR 100 million by 2015. With the company’s target 
customer base and product range, it is realistic to 
expect an operating margin of approximately 5 to 8% 
(EBIT).

In order to ensure future growth of its business 
operations, the company will also look into opportuni-
ties for business restructuring.

outlook foR 2013
According to the new Securities market Act, a company 
is obliged to present its future outlook in its annual 
report of operations. Incap corporation’s Board of 
Directors will continue the company’s existing practice 
and present its estimate on future outlook both in the 
report of the Board of Directors and in interim reports� 

Incap’s estimates for future business development 
are based both on its customers’ forecasts and on the 
company’s own assessments. In the energy efficiency 
sector, demand is expected to grow from the 2012 level 
both in Europe and in India. Revenue from well-being 
technology products is estimated to decrease from last 
year due to the discontinuation of manufacturing of 
certain volume products�

The closure of the Helsinki plant in 2012 was the 
last phase of the company’s strategic change to pro-
duction structure, creating the prerequisites for profit-
able growth. Reduction of the number of plants and 
other efficiency improvements in production, together 
with the streamlining of the Group services, will 
improve the company’s profitability in 2013.

Incap estimates that the Group’s revenue in 2013 
will be the same or somewhat lower than the EUR 64.1 
million achieved in 2012. The company estimates that 
its full-year operating result (EBIT) will be clearly pos-
itive. In 2012 the operating result was negative EUR 
-0.7 million. 

BOard Of directOrs’ prOpOsal On 
measures related tO the Operating 
result
The parent company’s loss for the financial period 
totalled EUR 5,505,693.92. The Board will propose to 
the Annual General meeting on 10 April 2013 that no 
dividend be paid and the result for the financial period 
be recognised in equity. 

annual geneRal meeting 2013
Incap corporation’s Annual General meeting will take 
place on Wednesday, 10 April 2013 at 3:00 p.m. at 
Hotel Kämp, Pohjoisesplanadi 29, 00100 Helsinki. 
notice to the Annual General meeting will be given on 
18 march 2013 at the latest.

Helsinki, 25 February 2013 

IncaP cORPORatIOn
Board of Directors
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consolidated Income statement

1,000 euros note 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Revenue 3 64,141 68,890

Other operating income 4 404 145

changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 5 -643 -363

Work performed by the enterprise and capitalised 0 0

Raw materials and consumables used 5 44,315 48,631

Personnel expenses 8 11,087 12,016

Depreciation and amortisation 7 1,460 2,047

Other operating expenses 6 7,721 7,597

 

operating profit/loss -681 -1,619

financing income and expenses 10 -751 -2,378

 

Profit/loss before tax -1,432 -3,997

Income tax expense 11 -3,498 0

 

Profit/loss for the year -4,930 -3,997

attributable to

equity holders of the parent company -4,930 -3,997

non-controlling interests 0 0

-4,930 -3,997

Earnings per share from profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent

 

Basic earnings per share 12 -0�25 -0�21

Diluted earnings per share 12 -0�25 -0�21

Average number of shares:

basic 20,067,042 18,680,880

diluted 20,067,042 18,680,880



cOnsOlIDateD IncOme statement

11

1,000 euros note 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

cOnsOlidated statement Of cOmprehensive incOme

Profit/loss for the year -4,930 -3,997

other comprehensive income:

Translation differences from foreign units -118 -316

Other comprehensive income, net -118 -316

total comprehensive income -5,048 -4,313

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

equity holders of the parent company -5,048 -4,313

non-controlling interests 0 0

-5,048 -4,313
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consolidated Balance sheet

1,000 euros note 31 dec 2012 31 dec 2011

assets

non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 13 2,578 4,007

Goodwill 14 940 964

Other intangible assets 14 178 341

Other financial assets 15 311 314

Deferred tax assets 16 560 4,085

total non-current assets 4,568 9,710

Current assets

Inventories 17 9,352 11,423

Trade and other receivables 18 12,815 15,834

cash and cash equivalents 19 613 369

total Current assets 22,780 27,625

non-current assets held-for-sale 1 1,936 1,936

total assets 29,283 39,271

equity and liaBilities

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 20

share capital 20,487 20,487

share premium account 44 44

Exchange differences -917 -799

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 4,818 4,084

Retained earnings -27,440 -22,506

total equity -3,008 1,311

non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 16 0 0

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 24 2,492 259

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 25 11,841 13,109

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 24 17,959 24,336

liabilities relating to non-current assets held-fore-sale 1 0 256

total liabilities 32,291 37,960

total equity and liabilities 29,283 39,271
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consolidated cash flow statement

1,000 euros note 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Cash flow from operating activities

Operating profit/loss -681 -1,619

Adjustments to operating profit 28 728 2,157

change in working capital 4,188 -1,920

Interest paid -1,814 -1,793

Interest received 27 38

Cash flow from operating activities 2,448 -3,137

Cash flow from investing activities

capital expenditure on tangible and intangible assets -124 -280

Proceeds from sales of tangible and intangible assets 139 148

Other investments -61 -80

loans granted 0 -6

Sold shares of subsidiaries 0 0

Repayments of loan assets 3 0

Cash flow from investing activities -43 -218

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from share issue 734 0

Drawdown of loans 1,819 4,946

Repayments of borrowings -4,201 -1,118

Repayments of obligations under finance leases -594 -843

Cash flow from financing activities -2,242 2,985

 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 163 -371

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 369 476

Effects of changes in exchange rates 99 288

changes in fair value (cash and cash equivalents) -18 -24

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 613 369
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consolidated statement of changes in equity

1,000 euros share capital
share premium 

account

Reserve for 
invested 

unrestricted 
equity

translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings total equity

equity at 1 January 2012 20,487 44 4,084 -799 -22,506 1,311

total comprehensive income -4,930 -4,930

currency translation differences -118 -118

share issue 759 759

Transaction costs for equity -25 -25

Options and share-based compensation -5 -5

equity at 31 december 2012 20,487 44 4,818 -917 -27,440 -3,008

1,000 euros share capital
share premium 

account

Reserve for 
invested 

unrestricted 
equity

translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings total equity

equity at 1 January 2011 20,487 44 4,084 -483 -18,510 5,622

total comprehensive income -3,997 -3,997

currency translation differences -316 -316

share issue

Transaction costs for equity

Options and share-based compensation 2 2

equity at 31 december 2011 20,487 44 4,084 -799 -22,506 1,311
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

cOrpOrate infOrmatiOn
Incap corporation is a Finnish public listed company under Finnish law which 
is domiciled in Helsinki and whose registered address is Valuraudankuja 7, 
00700 Helsinki. The company is an internationally operating contract manu-
facturer whose comprehensive services cover the entire life-cycle of electro-
mechanical products, from design and manufacture to repair and maintenance 
services�

The Group comprises the parent company, Incap corporation, and the 
parent company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries: Incap Electronics Estonia OÜ, 
Kuressaare, Estonia; Euro-ketju Oy, Helsinki, Finland; Incap Hong Kong ltd., 
hong Kong and Incap contract manufacturing services Pvt� ltd�, Bangalore, 
India, which is owned by the parent company by 77.5%. Incap cmS Pvt. ltd. is 
however combined by 100% in the consolidated financial statements, because 
the control of the subsidiary stays in the parent company. 

accOUntInG POlIcIes aPPlIeD In the cOnsOlIDateD 
fInancIal statements
Basis Of preparatiOn
These Incap Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards in conformity with the IAS 
and IFRS standards and SIc and IFRIc interpretations in force at the balance 
sheet date, 31 December 2012. The notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments also comply with Finnish accounting and company legislation.

The financial statements in the official compiled version are presented in 
unabbreviated form to an accuracy of two decimals. In the Annual Report, the 
financial statement data is presented in thousands of euros.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS calls for 
the making of certain estimates by Group management as well as for manage-
ment’s judgement in applying accounting policies. The estimates having the 
greatest effect on the financial statement figures are presented in the note 
“Accounting policies requiring management’s judgement and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty.”

suBsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the parent company, Incap cor-
poration, and its subsidiaries Incap Electronics Estonia OÜ, Incap Hong Kong 
ltd., Incap contract manufacturing Services Pvt. ltd. and Euro-ketju Oy.

Intra-Group share ownership has been eliminated by means of the purchase 
method. Acquired subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from the time when the Group has obtained control, and divested sub-
sidiaries up to the time when control ceases. All intra-Group transactions, 
receivables, liabilities, unrealised gains and internal distribution of profits are 
eliminated when preparing the consolidated financial statements.

translatiOn Of items denOminated in fOreign currency
separate companies
Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded in the functional 
currency using the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Balance sheet 
items denominated in foreign currency are translated to the functional cur-
rency using the exchange rates at the balance sheet date.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions denominated in foreign cur-
rency and the translation of balance sheet items are recorded in the income 
statement. Exchange gains and losses resulting from operations are recorded 
under the corresponding items above operating profit. Exchange gains and 
losses resulting from loans denominated in foreign currency are recorded 
under financial income and expenses.

grOup
Figures relating to the profit and financial position of Group units are measured 
in the main functional currency of each unit. The Incap Group’s financial state-
ments are presented in euros, which is the functional and presentation cur-
rency of the Group’s parent company�

the income and expense items in the income statements of foreign Group 
companies have been translated to euros using the average exchange rate 
during the year, and their balance sheets using the exchange rates at the bal-
ance sheet date. The translation of the profit for the financial year using dif-
ferent exchange rates in the income statement and the balance sheet results 
in an exchange difference, which is recorded in equity. The exchange differ-
ences arising from the elimination of the acquisition cost of foreign subsidiar-
ies and equity items accumulated after the acquisition are recorded in equity.

prOperty, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured at original cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Property, plant and equipment are depre-
ciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful life. The esti-
mated useful lives of assets are the following:
• Buildings 18–24 years
• machinery and equipment 3–10 years
• motor vehicles  3–5 years.

The residual value of assets and their useful lives are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and, if necessary, are adjusted to reflect changes that have occurred 
in the expectations for an asset’s economic benefits.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of an item of prop-
erty, plant and equipment only when it is probable that future economic ben-
efits from the asset will flow to the Group. Other repair and maintenance 
expenses are recognised as an expense as they arise�

Depreciation of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the 
asset is classified as for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 non-current Assets Held 
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for Sale and Discontinued Operations. non-current assets held for sale are 
measured at the lower by carrying amount or by the fair value less the selling 
expenses�

capital gains and losses on the retirements and disposals of property, plant 
and equipment are recorded either in other operating income or expenses.

BOrrOwing cOsts
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred� 

The loan interest of the capital loan is recognised as an expense on a time 
apportionment basis. In the consolidated IFRS financial statements, the accu-
mulated interest of the capital loan is recognised as an expense for the finan-
cial period� 

Transaction expenses directly attributable to the obtaining of convertible 
debt are included in the original cost of the debt and amortised over the debt 
period using the effective interest method.

gOvernment grants
Government grants are recorded on a net basis as a deduction from property, 
plant and equipment, whereby the grants are recognised as income in the form 
of smaller depreciation charges over the useful life of an asset.

intangiBle assets 
Goodwill is the proportion of the acquisition cost which exceeds the Group’s 
share of the fair value, at the date of acquisition, of the net asset value of a 
company acquired after 1 January 2004. Other costs directly attributable to an 
acquisition, such as experts’ fees, are also included in the acquisition cost.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, such as 
the value of customer relationships, are not amortised but are tested annually 
for any impairment. The testing involves the allocation of goodwill to units 
generating cash flow and the measurement at cost less impairment losses. 
Research and development expenditure is recorded as an expense in the 
income statement� 

An intangible asset is recorded in the balance sheet only if the cost of the 
asset can be determined reliably and it is probable that the expected future 
economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity. 
Intangible assets are recorded in the balance sheet at cost and amortised in 
the income statement over their known or estimated useful life.

The Incap Group’s intangible assets are amortised over 3–5 years. 

inventOries
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. cost is 
determined using the fifo method. The cost of finished and semi-finished prod-
ucts comprises raw materials, direct labour expenses, other direct expenses 
as well as fixed and variable production overheads, based on the normal capac-
ity of the production facilities. The net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price of the asset less the estimated costs incurred in bringing the product to 
its present condition and selling expenses.

leases
the group as lessee
leases of property, plant and equipment where the lessee bears the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. An asset obtained on a 
finance lease is recorded in the lessee’s balance sheet at the start of the lease 
period at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present 
value of the minimum lease payment. An asset obtained on a finance lease is 
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term� 
lease payments for items of property, plant and equipment are split between 
financial expenses and a reduction in lease liabilities for the period of the lease 
finance agreement. Finance lease liabilities are included in the Incap Group’s 
interest-bearing liabilities.

When the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership, the agreement 
is treated as an operating lease. lease payments paid on operating leases are 
recorded as an expense in the income statement�

impairment Of assets 
At each balance sheet date, the Incap Group assesses whether there is any 
indication that the value of an asset item may be impaired. If any such indica-
tion exists, the asset item is tested for impairment to assess its recoverable 
amount. Impairment testing is done at the lowest possible unit level which is 
independent of other units and whose cash flows can be distinguished from 
the other cash flows of the entity.

an impairment loss is recorded when the carrying amount of an asset item 
is greater than its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use� Value in use refers to the 
estimated discounted cash flows obtainable from said asset item or cash-
generating unit.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. If an impairment loss is 
allocated to a cash-generating unit, it is allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and thereafter 
to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit. An impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount 
of the asset has changed since the last impairment loss was recognised� an 
impairment loss is not, however, reversed to an extent greater than what the 
carrying amount of the asset would have been without the recording of the 
impairment loss� 

the Incap Group’s goodwill is tested annually� an impairment loss recorded 
on goodwill is not reversed under any circumstances�

emplOyee Benefits 
Pension obligations
The Incap Group’s pension plans are classified as defined-benefit and defined-
contribution plans. Payments made for defined contribution plans are recog-
nised as an expense in the income statement for the period which the debit 
concerns. The obligations of defined-benefit plans are calculated separately 
for each plan using the projected unit credit method� Pension costs are 
recorded as an expense for the duration of employees’ period of service on 
the basis of calculations carried out by authorised actuaries. 
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shaRe-based Payment
The Incap Group has applied IFRS 2 Share-based Payment to all share option 
plans. Warrants are measured at fair value at the time they are granted and 
entered as an expense in the income statement in even instalments during the 
vesting period. The expense determined at the moment of granting the options 
is based on the Incap Group’s estimate of the number of options that will vest 
at the end of the vesting period. The fair value is determined on the basis of 
the Black-Scholes pricing model for share options.

The Incap Group updates the estimate of the final number of share options 
at each balance sheet date. changes in the estimates are recorded in the 
income statement. When granted share options are exercised, the cash pay-
ments received on the basis of share subscriptions (adjusted for any transaction 
expenses) are recognised in equity and in the share premium fund.

prOvisiOns 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that a payment obligation will be 
realised and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. Provisions 
are measured at the present value of the obligation. 

inCome taxes
Income tax in the income statement comprises taxes on taxable income for 
the period and deferred taxes. Taxes on the profit for the financial year are 
calculated on taxable income on the basis of the tax rate in force in Finland. 
taxes are adjusted for taxes for previous periods�

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences between the 
carrying amount of an asset or liability and its tax base. In the Incap Group the 
largest temporary differences arise from finance leases, depreciation of build-
ings and other property, plant and equipment as well as unused tax losses� 

Deferred taxes have been calculated by applying the tax rates in force by 
the balance sheet date.

A tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which a deductible temporary difference can be uti-
lised�

revenue recOgnitiOn
goods sold and services rendered
Revenue from the sale of goods is booked when significant risks and benefits 
connected with the ownership of the goods have been transferred from the 
seller to the purchaser. In calculating revenue, sales income has been adjusted 
for indirect taxes and discounts� Revenue from services is recorded when the 
service has been rendered.

financial assets and financial liaBilities 
The Incap Group’s financial assets have been classified in accordance with the 
IAS 39 standard in the following groups: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and other receivables and 
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification is made on the basis of the 
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired at the time they were 

originally acquired. Other financial assets presented in the financial statements 
are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Available-for-sale financial 
assets consist mainly of unquoted shares and participations that are not 
entered in the balance sheet at fair value because their fair value cannot be 
determined reliably.

cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits and 
other short-term, highly liquid investments. Items classified as cash and cash 
equivalents have a maximum of a three-month maturity from the time of 
acquisition. 

Financial liabilities are originally entered in the accounts at fair value on 
the basis of the consideration received. The transaction expenses of convert-
ible bonds are included in the original carrying amount of the bonds. The fair 
value of the debt component of convertible bonds has been determined using 
the market interest rate on similar debt at the time of issuance. The debt 
component is recorded at amortised cost until it is extinguished by converting 
the bonds to shares or by repayment of the bonds. Because the equity com-
ponent of convertible bonds is not material, it has not been recorded sepa-
rately in the invested non-restricted equity reserve�

accOunting pOlicies requiring management’s judgement 
and key sOurces Of estimatiOn uncertainty
When financial statements are prepared, future scenarios and assumptions 
have to be made, the outcomes of which may differ from the original sce-
narios and assumptions. Judgement is also used in applying the accounting 
policies. In the consolidation of business operations, the Group has used exter-
nal consultants when assessing the fair values of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets. concerning property, plant and equipment, Incap has 
made comparisons with the market prices of similar products and assessed 
any impairment resulting from the age and wear of the assets and other sim-
ilar factors affecting them. The determination of the fair value of intangible 
assets is based on estimates of cash flows related to the assets. It is the view 
of the management that the estimates and assumptions used are sufficiently 
accurate as a basis for the determination of fair value. The Group furthermore 
examines any indications of impairment on property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets at least at every balance sheet date.

Estimates made in connection with the preparation of the financial state-
ments are based on management’s best knowledge at the balance sheet date. 
The estimates take into account prior experiences and assumptions which 
concern the future, are considered the most probable at the balance sheet 
date and are related to the expected development of the Group’s financial 
operating environment in terms of sales and cost levels. The management’s 
judgement and estimates have been used when testing goodwill and deferred 
tax assets. changes are monitored on a regular basis using internal and exter-
nal information sources, and potential changes in estimates and assumptions 
are recorded during the financial year when they are revised, and during all 
financial years thereafter.

The Group continuously assesses and monitors the amount of financing 
required for business operations so that the Group would have sufficient liquid 
assets to finance its operations and repay loans that mature. The aim is to 



IncAP FInAncIAl STATEmEnT 2012

18

guarantee the availability and flexibility of financing through overdraft facilities 
and other forms of financing. 

In order to evaluate liquidity, Incap has prepared a monthly cash flow esti-
mate that extends over the 2013 financial statements. The cash flow projection 
is based on the Group’s performance forecast for 2013 drawn up in connection 
with the financial statements and on the actual turnover of sales receivables, 
accounts payable and inventories. The cash flow estimate is based on a calcu-
lation where accounts payable that have matured are paid and Incap’s need 
for working capital increases. At the date of the financial statements, Incap’s 
working capital will not cover the requirement for the next 12 months. Accord-
ing to the company’s estimate approximately EUR 4‒6 million of additional 
working capital is needed. However, the company’s working capital will be 
sufficient for the next 12 months if the company’s potential share issue and 
financing arrangements succeed as planned so that the company obtains funds 
for working capital funding and the final redemption of the 2007 convertible 
loan in June 2013, and if the bank accepts the terms and conditions for the 
drawing down of the additional loan, and if the goals for the company’s result 
and inventory turnover rate are achieved, and if the covenants for the com-
pany’s loans from credit institutions are met, or, should the covenants not be 
met, the bank decides not to exercise its right to terminate the loan agree-
ments. Because the forecasts that form the basis of the cash flow calculation 
have previously deviated from the forecasts, there is an element of remarkable 
uncertainty associated with them�

impairment testing
Incap Group annually tests goodwill for impairment. The testing is based on a 
cash flow estimate prepared on the basis of the budget and four-year business 
plan ratified by the management. Discount rate after taxes, forecast operating 
profit before depreciation and change in working capital are used as the key 
factors. The discount rate is comprised of industry risk, interest on liabilities 
and country-specific risk. The discount rate factors are updated annually in 
connection with the testing using information received from the market. On 
the basis of the calculations, there are no indications of impairment of goodwill 
and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life. This has been verified 
in calculations concerning recoverable amount.

The value of shares in subsidiaries in the parent company is the acquisition 
cost plus subsequent investments to strengthen the equity of the subsidiaries. 
The value of the shares in subsidiaries has a significant impact on the equity 
capital and therefore on, for example, equity ratio. The impairment testing of 
shares in subsidiaries has been carried out on the basis of the situation at the 
end of the financial period. The recoverable amounts used in the impairment 
test calculations are determined on the basis of value in use. The cash flow 
forecasts are based on the budget for the next financial period and four-year 
business plan prepared by the management and ratified by the Board of Direc-
tors� 

The impairment of other assets is estimated annually as described above 
under Impairment. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have 
been determined by way of calculations based on the value in use. These 
calculations require the use of estimates. 

Since the levels of revenue and operating profit before depreciation used 
in the impairment test calculations do not reflect the actual development 
during the preceding years, there is an element of remarkable uncertainty 
associated with them�

deferred tax asset
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in the Indian company. Deferred tax 
assets have been recognised to the extent that is considered to be possible to 
utilise against future taxable income.

The deferred tax asset is based on the Board of Directors’ estimate of the 
company’s future development during the next five years and the resulting 
imputed taxable profit. 

segment information
The Incap Group does not have business or geographical segments which 
should be reported according to IFRS 8. The risks and profitability related to 
the Group’s different business and geographical areas do not differ significantly 
from each other� the company’s management regularly assesses future 
changes and, consequently, the possible formation of segments. 

applicatiOn Of new Or amended ifrs standards
The Group has taken into consideration the new standards and interpretations 
published during the period by the IASB and will introduce them in future 
accounting periods as they enter into force. The Group estimates that the new 
standards and interpretations will not have a material effect on the Group’s 
financial statements in coming years. The new standards, interpretations and 
contents are as follows:

standards that will take effect on 1 January 2012 or later:
• Amendment: IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfers of 

financial assets 
• Amendment: IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
• Annual improvements to IFRSs (amendments to several different 

standards)
• Amendment: IAS 12 Income Taxes: Recovery of Underlying Assets 

standards that will take effect on 1 January 2013 or later:
• Amendment: IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRSs – Severe Hyperinflation 

and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters 
• Amendment: IFRS 1 Government loan
• Amendment: IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IAS 32 

Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial liabilities

• IFRS 10 consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 27 Separate Financial 
Statements (revised)

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IAS 28 Associates and Joint Ventures 
(revised)

• IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities
• IFRS 13 Fair Value measurement
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• Revised: IAS 19 Employee Benefits
• IFRIc 20 Stripping costs in the Production Phase of a Surface mine
Proposals for annual improvements to IfRss 
• IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRSs
• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
• IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
• IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
• IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

standards that will take effect on 1 January 2014 or later:
• Amendments: IFRS 10, IFRS 12, IAS 27 and IAS 28 regarding consolidation 

of Investment entities 

standards that will take effect on 1 January 2015 or later:
• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: classification and measurement  

(the amendment cannot be applied prior to EU approval)
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1. nOn-cURREnT ASSETS HElD FOR SAlE

1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

assets of disposal group 
classified as held for sale

Incap corporation's Vuokatti plant 
property 1,936 1,936

liabilities of disposals group 
classified as held for sale

Other non-current liabilities to 
others, interest-bearing 0 0

Other current liabilities, interest-
bearing 0 256

0 256

Incap signed in August 2012 a 5-year lease contract for the property and con-
tinues measures aimed at selling the property. The fair price estimate given 
by catella Property Oy on 23 January 2012 clearly exceeds the book value of 
the property on 31 December 2012. Further information is given in the report 
of the Board of Directors in Short-term risks and factors of uncertainty concern-
ing operations. There were no sales of business operations in the Group in 2011 
and 2012.

2. AcQUIRED OPERATIOnS

no business acquisitions were made during financial years 2012 and 2011. Of 
the decrease of goodwill in 2012, the exchange difference amounts to EUR 
23,533.25. 

3. REVEnUE

1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Revenue from the sale of goods 64,135 68,868

Revenue from the services 5 22

 64,141 68,890

geographic division of customers 
external of revenue 1.1.–31.12.2012 1.1.–31.12.2011

europe 58,910 59,546

north america 377 3,473

asia 4,854 5,871

64,141 68,890

Group has three customers, whose revenue exceeds 10% of the entire Group’s 
revenue. combined share of revenue of these customers is approximately 41%. 

4. OTHER OPERATInG IncOmE

1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

net gains on the disposal of 
property, plant and equipment 364 75

lease income 22 0

Other income 18 70

404 145

5. RAW mATERIAlS AnD SERVIcES

Raw materials and consumables 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Purchases during the financial 
year 42,205 46,249

change in inventories 1,869 1,330

44,074 47,579

external services 884 1,414

44,958 48,993

6. OTHER OPERATInG ExPEnSES

1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

lease expenses 1,820 1,811

Operating and maintenance 
expenses for property and 
machinery 1,868 1,682

Other expenses 4,033 4,105

7,721 7,597

auditors' fees 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Auditing fees 56 49

certificates and statements 0 0

tax advice 1 4

Other services 54 15

111 67
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7. DEPREcIATIOn AnD AmORTISATIOn

1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

depreciation and amortisation 
by assets class

Intangible assets

Other capitalised expenditure 162 323

1 0

Tangible assets 163 323

Buildings

machinery and equipment 58 59

Other tangible assets 1,174 1,583

65 81

 1,297 1,724

total depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment losses 1,460 2,047

8. EmPlOYEE BEnEFITS ExPEnSE

1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Wages and salaries 9,048 9,769

Pension costs – defined 
contribution plans 962 1,218

Pension costs – defined-benefit 
plans 46 22

Expense of share-based payments 5 2

Other statutory employer 
expenses 1,026 1,005

11,087 12,016

average number of group's 
personnel during the period 697 749

Information on management’s employee benefits is presented in note 31 
Related-party transactions. Information on share options granted is presented 
in note 21 Share-based payment.

9. RESEARcH AnD DEVElOPmEnT cOSTS

A total of EUR 0.1 million of research and development costs has been recorded 
as an annual expense in the income statement in 2012 (EUR 0.1 million in 2011).

10. FInAncIAl IncOmE AnD ExPEnSES

financial income 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Dividend income from available-
for-sale financial assets 1 2

Interest income from investments 
held until due date 0 0

Interest income from other 
deposits 5 6

Interest income from trade 
receivables 20 29

Interest income from loan 
receivables 0 0

foreign exchange gains on 
liabilities 370 201

Other financing income 1,031 0

 1,429 238

financial expenses 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Interest expenses from financial 
liabilities measured at amortised 
cost -418 -292

Interest expenses from 
convertible promissory notes -266 -473

Other interest expenses -401 -363

exchange rate losses -552 -899

Other financial expenses -542 -591

-2,180 -2,616

 

total financial income and 
expenses -751 -2,378

Interest expenses include variable lease payments of EUR 0.02 million (EUR 
0.04 million in 2011) recorded as lease expenses from finance lease agree-
ments. The reduction in the redemption value of the convertible loan by EUR 
1 million is recorded in financing income in 2012.
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11. IncOmE TAx

income tax in the income 
statement 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

current tax on profits for the year 0 0

Tax for previous accounting 
periods 0 0

total current tax based on 
income 0 0

change in deferred tax assets on 
previous years -3,498 0

change in deferred tax liabilities 
on previous years 0 0

total deferred tax -3,498 0

Income tax expense -3,498 0

Reconciliation of tax expenses in 
the income statement and taxes 
calculated on the basis of the 
24.5% tax rate applicable in the 
group’s home country 1 Jan–31 dec 20111 Jan–31 dec 2012

Profit before taxes -1,432 -3,997

Tax at the applicable rate in the 
home country 351 1,039

Divergent tax rates of foreign 
subsidiaries -442 117

tax-free income 122 87

Expenses that are not deductible -128 -191

Other temporary differences 88 30

non-recorded deferred tax 9 -1,082

tax charge 0 0

deferred taxes in the balance 
sheet

Deferred tax assets 560 4,085

Deferred tax liabilities 0 0

560 4,085

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented in note 16.

12. EARnInGS PER SHARE

Undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable 
to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the period�

2012 2011

Profit for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent -4,930 -3,997

Weighted average number of shares 
during the period 20,067,042 18,680,880

Undiluted earnings per share, EUR/
share, -0�25 -0�21

When calculating diluted earnings per share, share options and convertible 
promissory notes are taken into account in the weighted average number of 
shares. Share options have a dilutive effect when their subscription price is 
lower than the fair value of the share. The fair value of the share is based on 
the average price of the shares during the period. The convertible loan issued 
in 2012 includes a right to subscribe a maximum total of 7,112,195 new shares 
of the company. The subscription price for each new share is EUR 0.41. The 
subscription period commences when the option rights attached to the con-
vertible loan have been entered into the trade register, and ends on 30 April 
2017. Options for the subscription of new shares related to the convertible 
promissory notes do not have a dilutive effect, because the shares’ trading 
price is higher than the fair value of the share. convertible promissory notes 
are presented in note 24 Interest-bearing liabilities.

2012 2011

Profit for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent, 
continuing operations -4,930 -3,997

Weighted average number of shares 
during the period 20,067,042 18,680,880

Dilution effect of issued share 
options 0 0

share-weighted diluted average price 
used in calculating adjusted earnings 
per share 20,067,042 18,680,880

Diluted earnings per share, EUR/
share -0�25 -0�21
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13. PROPERTY, PlAnT AnD EQUIPmEnT

land
buildings and 

advances
machinery and 

equipment
other tangible 

assets total

acquisition cost, 1 Jan 2012 435 1,159 44,282 907 46,782

Increase 0 78 35 0 113

consolidation of operations 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals 0 -1 -270 -5 -276

Reclassifications between items 0 -40 -108 13 -136

sale of assets in Group companies 0 0 0 0 0

Exchange differences -20 -54 -97 -17 -188

Reclassification to non-current AFS assets 0 0 0 0 0

acquisition cost, 31 dec 2012 415 1,142 43,841 899 46,296

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 1 Jan 2012 0 -168 -41,834 -773 -42,775

Depreciation 0 -58 -1,174 -65 -1,297

Increase 0 0 0 0 0

Decrease 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassifications between items 0 0 0 0 0

cumulative depreciation on reclassifications and disposals 0 0 254 4 258

Exchange differences 0 11 72 14 96

Reclassification to non-current AFS assets cum. amortisation 0 0 0 0 0

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 31 dec 2012 0 -216 -42,681 -820 -43,717

carrying amount, 1 Jan 2012 435 990 2,448 134 4,007

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2012 415 926 1,160 78 2,578
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land
buildings and 

advances
machinery and 

equipment
other tangible 

assets total

acquisition cost, 1 Jan 2011 501 1,618 44,331 962 47,412

Increase 0 181 45 0 225

consolidation of operations 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals 0 -64 -61 -16 -141

Reclassifications between items 0 -408 359 17 -32

sale of assets in Group companies 0 0 0 0 0

Exchange differences -66 -168 -392 -55 -682

Reclassification to non-current AFS assets 0 0 0 0 0

acquisition cost, 31 dec 2011 435 1,159 44,282 907 46,782

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 1 Jan 2011 0 -130 -40,528 -728 -41,386

Depreciation 0 -59 -1,583 -81 -1,724

Increase 0 0 0 0 0

Decrease 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassifications between items 0 0 0 0 0

cumulative depreciation on reclassifications and disposals 0 0 64 7 71

Exchange differences 0 21 212 30 263

Reclassification to non-current AFS assets cum. amortisation 0 0 0 0 0

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 31 dec 2011 0 -168 -41,834 -773 -42,775

carrying amount, 1 Jan 2011 501 1,488 3,804 233 6,026

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2011 435 990 2,448 134 4,007

finance leases
Property, plant and equipment includes assets obtained on finance leases as 
follows:

machinery and equipment

31 dec 2012

Acquisition cost 16,015

Accumulated depreciation -15,829

Carrying amount 186

31 dec 2011

Acquisition cost 16,151

Accumulated depreciation -15,129

Carrying amount 1,022

Increases on the acquisition cost of property, plant and equipment include 
assets leased on finances leases totalling EUR 0 in 2012 (EUR 0 in 2011).
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14. InTAnGIBlE ASSETS

goodwill other intangible assets total

acquisition cost, 1 Jan 2012 2,452 4,408 6,861

Increase 0 0 0

Decrease 0 0 0

Reclassifications between items 0 0 0

Exchange difference -24 -47 -71

acquisition cost, 31 dec 2012 2,429 4,361 6,790

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, 1 Jan 2012 -1,489 -4,067 -5,556

Amortisation 0 -163 -163

cumulative depreciation on sales of assets in Group companies 0 0 0

Exchange difference 0 47 47

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, 31 dec 2012 -1,489 -4,183 -5,672

carrying amount, 1 Jan 2012 964 341 1,304

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2012 940 178 1,118

acquisition cost, 1 Jan 2011 2,529 4,607 7,136

Increase 0 17 17

Decrease 0 -25 -25

Reclassifications between items 0 0 0

Exchange difference -77 -190 -267

acquisition cost, 31 dec 2011 2,452 4,408 6,861

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, 1 Jan 2011 -1,489 -3,902 -5,391

Amortisation 0 -324 -324

cumulative depreciation on sales of assets in Group companies 0 22 22

Exchange difference 0 136 136

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, 31 dec 2011 -1,489 -4,067 -5,556

carrying amount, 1 Jan 2011 1,040 705 1,745

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2011 964 341 1,304

Testing for impairment is based on a cash flow estimate prepared  based on 
the budget and four-year business plan ratified by the management. According 
to the company’s estimate there are no external or internal indications of the 
impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life. This has been verified in calculations concerning  recoverable amount. In 
the cash flow estimate the growth of revenue in India varies between 8 and 
9% and the operating profit before depreciation between 9 and 12% during 
2013‒2016. In the calculations of the financial year 2012, a discount rate of 
16.0% has been used in India (2011: 17.4%). The goodwill of approx. EUR 0.9 
million in the consolidated balance sheet  refers to the Indian subsidiary. 
According to the sensitivity analysis of goodwill calculations, the revenue in 

India can decrease by max.  18% and the average cost of capital can increase 
by max. 10% without any need for the impairment of goodwill.

In impairment testing of goodwill, the residual value of future cash flows 
is 54% of the cash flows in calculations for value in use. Recoverable amounts 
from cash generating units have been defined in calculations based on the 
value in use, and they involve use of estimates. Since the levels of revenue and 
operating profit before depreciation used in calculations do not reflect actual 
development during preceding years, there is an element of  significant uncer-
tainty associated with them.  Testing of impairment is described also in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements under Impairment of assets 
and Impairment testing.
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15. OTHER FInAncIAl ASSETS

2012 2011

Publicly quoted shares 4 4

Unquoted shares 7 10

capital investment fund 300 300

total available-for-sale investments at the end of the year 311 314

The fair value of publicly quoted investments in shares does not differ materially from their carrying amount.

16. DEFERRED TAx ASSETS AnD lIABIlITIES

1 Jan 2012
Recorded in  

income statement exchange differences 31 dec 2012

deferred tax assets 

tax losses carried forward 4,085 -3,498 -27 560

deferred tax liabilities

Accumulated depreciation difference 0 0 0 0

1 Jan 2011
Recorded in  

income statement exchange differences 31 dec 2011

deferred tax assets 

tax losses carried forward 4,209 0 -124 4,085

deferred tax liabilities

Accumulated depreciation difference 0 0 0 0

Parent company’s deferred tax assets of EUR 3.3 million has been recorded as 
an expense in the financial statements for 2012. There are no longer prereq-
uisites based on IAS 12 standard to keep deferred tax assets in the balance 
sheet, because the company has in the near past made losses and it has, 
besides the estimates for the future, no other convincing proof for the fact 
that the company will produce enough taxable income, against of which the 
tax losses could be utilised

A deferred tax asset has been recognised in the Indian company to the 
extent that is considered to be possible to utilise against future taxable income. 
Of the deferred tax assets recorded in the financial statement, EUR 0.6 million 
refers to the Indian subsidiary. The deferred tax asset is based on the Board of 
Directors’ estimate of the company’s future development during the next five 
years and the resulting imputed taxable profit. 

The impairment testing of deferred tax assets has been made based on the 
situation at the end of financial year 2012. The estimated growth of revenue 
varies in the Indian subsidiary for an average of 8‒9% in the years 2013‒2016.

The level of operating profit before depreciation varies in the Indian sub-
sidiary between 9 and 12%. Because the profitability of the Indian subsidiary 
has improved during 2012 and EUR 0.2 million of tax losses have been utilised, 
there will be no uncertainty as to the utilisation of the tax losses in the future. 
In 2013 the Indian subsidiary can fall short of the revenue objectives by a 
maximum of 7% without any need for write-down.

loss from the taxation year 2002, i.e. EUR 1.0 million, expired in 2012. The 
non-recorded cumulative tax assets on tax losses carried forward totalled EUR 
11.2 million on 31 December 2012. Tax losses expire in years 2013‒2022.
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17. InVEnTORIES

2012 2011

Raw materials and supplies 6,602 8,372

Work in progress 1,140 792

finished goods 1,426 2,038

advance payments 184 220

9,352 11,423

EUR 0.5 million was recorded as an expense for the financial year, and the 
carrying amount of inventories was lowered by this amount to align it with the 
net realisable value (EUR 0.2 million in 2011).

18. TRADE AnD OTHER REcEIVABlES

2012 2011

Trade receivables 10,853 14,197

loan receivables 31 33

Prepaid expenses and accrued 
income 1,438 1,190

Other receivables 492 414

12,815 15,834

material items included in prepaid expenses and accrued income are related 
to local tax receivables in India. The fair values of receivables do not differ from 
their carrying amount. Receivables are not exposed to any significant credit 
risks.

aging structure of trade receivables 
and items recorded as credit losses 20112012

not past due 9,108 11,576

Past due

less than 30 days 1,119 1,831

30–60 days 217 471

61–90 days 32 148

more than 90 days 376 171

10,853 14,197

Items recorded as credit losses 6 0

distribution of current receivables 
by currency, euR 20112012

UsD 1,669 1,903

hKD 10 7

GBP 0 0

eeK 0 0

InR 2,511 1,774

eUR 8,624 12,150

12,815 15,834

19. cASH AnD cASH EQUIVAlEnTS

2012 2011

cash and bank accounts 570 325

short-term investments 43 44

613 369

The cash and cash equivalents according to the cash flow statement comprise 
same items�

20. nOTES TO THE STATEmEnT OF cHAnGES In EQUITY

number of 
shares

share  
capital

share 
premium 

account total

31 December 2012 20,848,980 20,487 44 20,531

31 December 2011 18,680,880 20,487 44 20,531

The maximum amount of the Incap Group’s shares at the balance sheet date 
is 40 million shares, the same as in 2011. The share’s accounting countervalue 
is EUR 1.68 and the Group’s maximum share capital is EUR 67.2 million (EUR 
67.2 million in 2011). The shares are fully paid in.

After the balance sheet date, the Board of Directors has proposed that no 
dividend be paid out.
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21. SHARE-BASED PAYmEnT

At the balance sheet date, the Group had one share option plan. 
The option scheme implemented in February 2009 includes a total of 

600,000 stock options entitling their holders to subscribe for an equal number 
of Incap shares. The stock options are broken into three categories: 2009A, 
2009B and 2009c. There are 100,000 A options, 100,000 B options and 
400,000 c options. The subscription price for all stock options is EUR 1. The 
subscription period is from 1 April 2010 to 31 January 2014 for 2009A stock 
options and from 1 April 2011 to 31 January 2014 for 2009B and 2009c stock 

options. The cEO has received 100,000 A stock options and 100,000 B stock 
options. The company’s key employees have received a total of 129,000 c stock 
options. The proportion of shares to be subscribed on the basis of stock options 
is up to 1.6% of the company’s shares and votes after a possible increase in 
share capital. Undistributed and returned stock options will be given to Euro-
ketju Oy, a subsidiary fully owned by Incap, and the Board of Directors will 
make a separate decision on distributing these. 

the main terms governing the determination of the fair value of equity 
instruments that were granted and accepted earlier 2012 2011 2010 all share options

number of instruments granted, pcs 201,000 125,000 100,000 426,000

Average (weighted) subscription price, euros 1�00 1�00 1�00 1�00

Average (weighted) maturity, years 4�0 4�4 5�1 4�4

Expected average (weighted) volatility, % 48�0 48�0 48�0 48�0

Average (weighted) risk-free interest rate, % 2�4 2�4 2�4 2�4

Expected personnel reductions (at grant date), % 23�0 23�0 23�0 23�0

total fair value, euros 34,307 20,375 16,344 71,026

 

Valuation model Black-Scholes

actual In shares

Because dividend payouts were not expected, dividends were not taken into account in calculating the fair value of share options.

2012 2011

Changes during the share option period and  
weighted average strike prices

average weighted 
strike price,  
euros/share

number of  
options

average weighted 
strike price,  
euros/share

number of  
options

Beginning of year 1�00 369,000 1�11 251,100

new options granted 0 0 1�00 201,000

Share options forfeited 1�00 -40,000 1 -57,000

Expired options 0 0 2�05 -26,100

share options outstanding at end of year 1.00 329,000 1.00 369,000

strike prices and expiry times of share options outstanding at end of period

year of expiry strike price, euros
number of shares

2012
number of shares 

2011
number of shares 

2010
number of shares

2009

2014 1�00 329,000 369,000 225,000 100,000
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22. PEnSIOn OBlIGATIOnS

The Group has both defined-contribution and defined-benefit pension plans. 
Defined-benefit pension plans are only employed in the subsidiary in India. In 
defined-benefit pension plans, the amount of the pension benefit at the time 
of retirement is determined on the basis of certain factors, such as salary and 
years of employment�

defined-benefit pension liability in 
the balance sheet are determined as 
follows: 2012 2011

Present value of unfunded obligations 0 0

Present value of funded obligations 213 194

fair value of plan assets -94 -99

Underfunding/overfunding 119 95

Unrecognised acturial gains (+) and 
losses (‒) 0 0

Unrecognised past service expenses 0 0

net liability 119 95

Amounts in the balance sheet:

liability 119 95

Receivable 0 0

net liability 119 95

defined-benefit pension expenses 
recognised in the income statement 20112012

Pension costs based on current 
period's service 13 14

Benefit-related interest expense 16 17

expected return on plan assets -6 -9

Actuarial gains (+) and losses (‒) 24 1

Pension costs based on prior periods' 
service 0 0

Gains/losses on plan curtailment 0 0

total 46 22

Actual return on plan assets was EUR 9,271 in 2012 (EUR 8,120 in 2011)

Changes in the present value of  
the defined benefit obligation 2012 2011

Defined benefit obligation at 
1 January 185 184

current service cost 12 13

Interest cost 15 16

Actuarial losses/(gains) on obligation 25 0

Gains (+) and losses (‒) based on 
curtailment 0 0

Business combination 0 0

Exchange difference 0 0

Benefits paid -24 -19

defined benefit obligation at 
31 december 213 194

Changes in the fair value of plan 
assets 2012 2011

fair value of plan assets at 1 January 94 110

expected return on plan assets 6 9

Actuarial gains (+) and losses (‒) 3 -1

contributions by employer 15 0

contributions by plan participants 0 0

Business combination 0 0

Exchange difference 0 0

Benefits paid -24 -19

fair value of plan assets at 
31 december 94 99

Plan assets are comprised as 
follows: 2012 2011

Funds managed by insurer 94 99

  

the principal actuarial assumptions 
used on 31 december 2012 2011

asia

Discount rate 8.15% 8.50%

expected return on plan assets 7.50% 7.50%

future salary increases 7.00% 7.00%
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amounts for the current and 
previous two periods 2012 2011 2010

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation 213 194 211

fair value of plan assets 94 99 126

Surplus (+) / deficit (‒) 119 95 85

experience adjustments on plan 
liabilities 18 7 43

experience adjustments on plan 
assets 3 -1 1

The Group expects to contribute EUR 0.01 million to its defined benefit pension 
plans in year 2013.

23. RESTRUcTURInG PROVISIOn AnD OTHER PROVISIOnS

expense reserve

31 december 2011 677

Increase in restructuring provision 0

Used provisions -574

31 december 2012 103

31 december 2010 285

Increase in restructuring provision 622

Used provisions -230

31 december 2011 677

As a part of its structural change Incap centralised its production, closing down 
the factory in Vuokatti, Finland in 2010 and the factory in Helsink, Finland in 
2012. A provision of EUR 2.6 million of non-recurring expenses was recognised 
for the financial year 2009 for the closing down of the Vuokatti factory. The 
provision was used mainly during the year 2010, and at the end of the financial 
period, the remaining provision amounted to EUR 55 thousands. For the clo-
sure of the Helsinki factory, a provision of a total of EUR 0.6 million was rec-
ognised for the financial year 2011. At the end of the financial period, the 
remaining provision amounted to EUR 48 thousands. 

24. InTEREST-BEARInG lIABIlITIES

non-current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

2012 2011

capital loan 600 0

convertible bond 1,886 0

Pension loans 0 0

Other loans, held-for-sale 0 0

Finance lease liabilities 6 259

2,492 259

Current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

2012 2011

Bank loans 12,558 15,129

Other loans 1,899 1,899

convertible bond 3,405 6,735

Pension loans 0 0

Other loans, held-for-sale 0 256

Finance lease liabilities 97 574

17,959 24,592

The fair values of liabilities are presented in note 27.
The non-current bank loans amounting to EUR 3.5 million have been trans-

ferred to current financial liabilities due to the breach of covenants (EUR 3.9 
million in 2011). Further information is given in the report of the Board of 
Directors in chapter Short-term risks and factors of uncertainty concerning 
operations as well as in note 26 management of financial risks, liquidity risk.

Of non-current financial liabilities, EUR 0 million are due to be paid off in 
more than five years (EUR 0 million in 2011). The Group’s bank loans have both 
variable and fixed interest rates. The Group’s average interest rate is 6.34% 
(5.22% in 2011).

forthcoming payable interest and instalments of loans

2012 2011

less than 6 months 18,430 18,533

6–12 months 54 3,173

1–5 years 3,263 4,546

more than 5 years 0 0

21,747 26,252
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The forthcoming instalments and interests have been calculated based on the 
present effective loan agreements. Because of the covenants, the non-current 
bank loan has in the balance sheet been described under current loans. The 
presentation of the instalments and the interest of the loans has been changed 
in line with the IFRS 7 standard in order to give a more relevant conception, 
and accordingly the interest and the instalments cover also the finance lease 
liabilities, factoring limits and credit lines. The data from previous year has 
been adjusted accordingly.

distribution of interest-bearing liabilities by currency, euR

non-current liabilities 2012 2011

UsD 0 0

eeK 0 0

InR 0 0

eUR 2,492 259

2,492 259

Current liabilities 2012 2011

UsD 1,555 1,604

eeK 0 0

InR 668 727

eUR 15,736 22,261

17,959 24,592

Convertible bond 2007
The convertible loan of EUR 6.75 million, issued by Incap in 2007, matured on 
25 may 2012. The company agreed in may 2012 upon re-financing for the 
convertible loan so that the company redeems the loan units to some of the 
convertible loan’s holders while a portion of the holders convert their loan 
units to a new convertible loan. Some of the redemptions were carried out in 
may-June 2012, and the amount to be redeemed by 31 December 2012 was 
EUR 2,405,950.27. 

After the end of the financial period in January 2013 Incap negotiated the 
final redemption of the convertible loan. In January 2013, the company 
redeemed out of the remaining loan units a total of EUR 1.0 million. Further-
more, a part of the loan with respective interest, i.e. a total of EUR 0.4 million, 
was converted to Incap’s shares by means of a private placement to one holder 
of the convertible loan. The final redemption of the 2007 convertible loan, 
EUR 1.0 million including interest, will be settled by the end of June 2013.

Convertible loan 2012 
A part of the holders of the convertible loan 2007 converted their loan units 
to a new convertible loan. The Board of Directors approved subscriptions for 
this new loan on 25 may 2012. The issue rate of the convertible loan is 100% 
and an annual fixed interest of 7% will be paid on the loan after each 12-month 

period. The subscription price of the new loan was formed in the following 
way: one loan unit in the 2007 convertible loan can be converted into one loan 
unit in the 2012 convertible loan. The loan amount is EUR 2,916,000 and a 
total of 540 loan units with the nominal value of EUR 5,400 were granted out 
of the loan. The convertible loan will expire on 25 may 2017. The convertible 
loan includes a right to subscribe a maximum total of 7,112,195 new shares of 
the company. The subscription price for each new share is EUR 0.41. The sub-
scription period commences when the option rights attached to the convert-
ible loan have been entered into the trade register, and ends on 30 April 2017.

Capital loan
In connection with the negotiations concerning the redemption of the convert-
ible loan 2007, three of Incap corporation’s major shareholders granted the 
company a capital loan of EUR 1.05 million, with a loan period of three years 
and at an interest rate of 10%. Of the capital loan, EUR 0.6 million was drawn 
on 28 December 2012 and recorded in the financial statements for 2012. 
According to the loan conditions, upon the liquidation or the bankruptcy of 
the parent company, the capital and the interest may only be paid at a lower 
priviledge in comparison to all other debts. Otherwise the capital or the inter-
est may be returned only for the part that the unrestricted equity and capital 
loans of the parent company at the time of the payment exceed balance sheet 
losses confirmed for the parent company’s latest financial period or included 
in more recent financial statements. no security has been provided for interest 
on the capital or for the loan� the loan interest is recognised as an expense on 
a time apportionment basis. In the consolidated IFRS financial statements, the 
accumulated interest of the capital loan is recognised as an expense for the 
financial period. The loan is due for repayment at the latest on 31 December 
2015.



IncAP FInAncIAl STATEmEnT 2012

32

due dates of finance lease liabilities 2012 2011

Finance lease liabilities – minimum 
lease payments

less than 1 year 100 598

1–5 years 6 266

later than 5 years 0 0

105 864

 

finance lease liabilities – Present 
value of minimum lease payments

less than 1 year 97 574

1–5 years 6 259

later than 5 years 0 0

103 833

Future finance charges 2 31

total finance lease liabilities 105 864

25. TRADE AnD OTHER PAYABlES

Current 2012 2011

Trade payables 8,006 8,693

cash proceeds 0 0

Accrued liabilities 1,529 2,106

Other liabilities 2,305 2,310

11,841 13,109

material items in accrued liabilities and deferred income are related to salary 
expenses�

distribution of non-interest-bearing 
liabilities by currency, euR 2012 2011

UsD 850 1,110

seK 16 5

chf 133 117

GBP 1 32

sGD 5 0

nOK 1 5

JPY 4 8

hKD 149 2

eeK 0 0

InR 1,847 2,298

eUR 8,834 9,533

11,841 13,109

Incap has reached an agreement with the Finnish Tax Administration on the 
payment arrangement related to overdue value-added taxes, withholding taxes 
and social security contributions. The total amount of the tax liabilities within 
the scope of this arrangement is approximately EUR 1.2 million. Each instalment 
amounts to EUR 57,700.00 and is paid monthly. The last payment will take 
place on 22 August 2014. Eventual sanction for delay (penalty interest and 
additional tax) is a reference rate for the preceding 6 months in accordance 
with the Tax law 12 § plus seven (7) percentage unit. In 2013 the interest per-
centage is 8. According to the provisions of the agreement, if an instalment is 
late, the Finnish Tax Administration has the right to terminate the agreement 
with immediate effect.
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26. mAnAGEmEnT OF FInAncIAl RISKS

The nature of the Incap Group’s business exposes the company to currency, 
interest rate, credit and liquidity risks. The objective of the Group’s financial 
risk management policy is to minimise the adverse effects of changes in finan-
cial markets on its result and cash flow.

The company’s financial department identifies and assesses the risks, 
obtains the necessary instruments for hedging the risks and reports to the 
President and cEO and the Board of Directors on these risks and any changes 
in them. Hedging transactions are carried out in accordance with the principles 
approved by the Group’s Board of Directors. currency forward contracts, cur-
rency loans and interest rate swaps are used in risk management, whenever 
necessary. The financial structure of subsidiaries is planned, assessed and 
controlled with a view to the management of financial risks. 

currency risks
Because the Incap Group operates in the euro zone and asia, the company’s 
business involves currency risk. In accordance with its risk management policy, 
the company aims to hedge itself from currency risks with currency options 
and currency forward contracts� In the finnish and estonian companies, a part 
of material purchases is made in USD. The respective transaction position is 
taken into consideration when calculating the company-specific position and 
is hedged in accordance with the currency risk policy. The company does not 
apply hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39.

The short-term working capital financing liabilities of the Indian subsidiary 
are mainly USD-denominated, and the company additionally has an overdraft 
facility denominated in the Indian rupee. The operations of the Indian company 
are also financed with a euro-denominated loan for which Incap corporation 
has made a non-current investment in the Indian subsidiary at the same amount.

Incap uses the subsidiary’s home currency (InR) in invoicing between the 
parent company and the subsidiary. Therefore, exposure to transaction risk 
concerns almost completely the Group’s parent company and the foreign sub-
sidiary is not exposed to substantial transaction risk. The risk exposure of the 
parent company’s balance sheet is hedged with forward exchange agreements 
and options.

In line with the Group’s currency risk policy the euro-denominated invest-
ment made in the subsidiary in India was not hedged during the financial year. 
The currency exchange differences arising from the investment are presented 
under exchange differences in the Group’s non-restricted equity. A change of 
+15%/-15% in the EUR/InR exchange rate results in a decrease of EUR 115,141.95 
or an increase of EUR 155,780.29 compared with the exchange difference at 
31 December 2012.

interest rate risk 
At the balance sheet date, interest-bearing liabilities in the consolidated bal-
ance sheet totalled EUR 20.5 million. less than half of the interest-bearing 
liabilities have a fixed rate. The weighted average duration of the interest-
bearing loan at the balance sheet date is 2.8 years. The calculation includes all 
loans, for which it is possible to define the payback period. The Group has not 

carried out special hedging measures against interest rate risks during the 
financial year. 

The Group analyses its interest rate exposure by preparing calculations of 
the defined interest rate change on the company’s result, when needed. cal-
culations are made only for the loans that have the largest impact on the 
overall interest rate exposure. A change of +1%/-1% in the market interest rates 
of variable rate loans would change the Group’s annual interest rate expenses 
by EUR +/- 119,161.37 at 31 December 2012.

credit risk
The principles and responsibilities of credit control are defined in the Group’s 
documented operating methods. The Group has significant receivables from 
several large Finnish and global customers. These customers are well-estab-
lished, long-standing and creditworthy. When a new customer relationship is 
established, the company assesses the annual volume generated by the new 
business, its share in revenue and the customer’s creditworthiness.

A total of EUR 5,526.80 of credit losses were recorded during the financial 
year 2012. During 2012 the Group renegotiated payment terms for receivables 
that would otherwise have been due or that would have decreased in value. 
no credit insurance has been used to hedge trade receivables.

The aging structure of trade receivables is presented in note 18.

liquidity risk
The Group continuously evaluates and monitors the amount of financing 
required by business operations, so that it has sufficient liquid funds to finance 
operations and repay due loans. The company strives to ensure the availability 
and flexibility of financing by using credit facilities and other forms of financing. 

Incap’s main sources of financing are cash flow from operations, loans 
raised from financial institutions and share issues. cash flow from operations 
has not been sufficient to loan repayments and investments. In order to secure 
the financing, the company has during 2010‒2012 organised three private 
placements, in which equity financing of EUR 4.9 million has been collected 
from investors and major shareholders� 

On 31 December 2012, Incap Group’s current interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings stood at EUR 18.0 million. Of this amount, EUR 14.5 million is a loan 
from credit institutions, of which EUR 4.1 million is directed towards the Indian 
subsidiary. In Finland and Estonia, the parent company uses factoring financing 
which is part of current liabilities.Unused credit facilities and cash equivalents 
were EUR 4.8 million on 31 December 2012.

Of the Group’s bank loans both the account with credit facility and the 
factoring limit were maturing on 31 may 2012. The company negotiated in 
spring 2012 over a financing arrangement with the target to renew the matur-
ing bank loans and the convertible loan, and to ensure the additional funding 
needed for operations. The negotiations were concluded successfully on 22 
may 2012 when the company’s Finnish financing banks renewed the maturing 
loans and granted altogether EUR 2.5 million in a new loan. Of this new loan, 
EUR 1 million was drawn down in July 2012 and EUR 0.75 million after the end 
of the financial period in January 2013. The remaining part of the loan can be 
drawn by 29 July 2013 after a separate confirmation of the bank.
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loans from credit institutions balance on 31 dec 2012 (euR) Review of covenants expiry date

1. Bank loan in Finland 180,000 30 Jun 2013 29 Oct 2013

2. Bank loan in Finland 2,196,364 30 Jun 2013 29 Oct 2013

3. Account with credit facility (< EUR 1 million) 24,883 30 Jun 2013 for the present

4. Factoring limit (< EUR 8.5 million) 5,265,009 30 Jun 2013 for the present

5. Bank loan in Finland 1,666,667 30 Jun 2013 3 may 2016

6. Bank loan in Finland 1,000,000 30 Jun 2013 12 Jul 2017

7� account with credit facility in India 668,261 13 apr 2013

8. Bank loan in India 1,554,675 31 may 2013

9. Finnfund's investment in Indian operations 1,898,615 1 apr 2014

10. Bank loan in Estonia 1,975 20 Jan 2013

total 14,456,448

other loans    

convertible loan 2007 2,405,950 30 Jun 2013

convertible loan 2012 2,885,002 25 may 2017

capital loan 600,000 31 Dec 2015

finance lease in finland 39,183 28 sep 2013

finance lease in finland 16,135 1 Jan 2014

finance lease in finland 5,567 1 mar 2013

finance lease in finland 9,401 1 mar 2013

finance lease in finland 5,535 1 mar 2013

finance lease in finland 10,000 1 Jan 2014

finance lease in estonia 3,029 31 Dec 2013

finance lease in estonia 14,168  15 Oct 2013

total 5,993,970

total 20,450,418

Of the company’s loans, a part of finance leases and a part of the 2012 convert-
ible loan and the capital loan are classified as non-current. Other bank loans 
are included in current financial liabilities on the basis of the loan period or 
due to the breach of covenants.

loans, credit line and factoring credit line granted by a Finnish bank totalled 
EUR 10.3 million on 31 December 2012. These loans (nos. 1‒6 in the above 
table) involve the following covenants:

equity ratio net ibd/ebitda

31 December 2012 at least 10% up to 7

30 June 2013 and onwards at least 15% up to 5

net IBD equals interest-bearing liabilities without factoring lease according to 
IfRs principles less cash and cash equivalents� eBItDa is calculated for rolling 
12 months. 

The covenants were not met on 31 December 2012. On this date, the com-
pany’s equity ratio was -10.3% and net IBD/EBITDA was 18.7. The bank has the 
right to terminate the agreements to expire after 60 days if any covenant is 
not met on the testing date. On 28 January 2013, the company received a 
written confirmation from the bank that the bank will not exercise its right to 
terminate the loans, even though the covenants were not met on 31 December 
2013. The covenants will be tested next on 30 June 2013 and after that every 
six months�

The first instalment of EUR 1 million of the additional loan which was nego-
tiated in connection with the financing arrangement in may 2012 was drawn 
down in July 2012. This loan of EUR 1 million includes the same covenants as 
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mentioned above. In addition, the bank has the right to terminate the loan if 
the redemption of the convertible loan issues in 2007 does not take place by 
the end of June 2013 as agreed.

On the basis of the forecast prepared by Incap on 25 February 2013, the 
covenants mentioned above will not be met on the next testing date, 30 June 
2013. The company is continuing the negotiations with the bank in order to 
mitigate the covenants and to rearrange the financing.

Finnfund’s investment made in 2009 or any other foreign loans do not 
include any covenants. However, a standby letter of credit which serves as a 
security of a foreign bank’s loan is including covenants.

The convertible loan of EUR 6.75 million, issued by Incap in 2007, matured 
on 25 may 2012. In may 2012, the company agreed upon re-financing for the 
convertible loan so that the company redeems the loan units of some of the 
convertible loan’s holders while a portion of the holders convert their loan 
units to a new convertible loan. The new convertible loan was issued on 25 
may 2012. The company was committed to redeem or purchases a portion of 
the loan shares to a total amount of EUR 2,805,550, which is in average 27% 
lower than the nominal value of the loan. The loan shares to be redeemed 
represented a total of EUR 3,834,000 of the capital of the convertible loan 
issued in 2007. 

The redemption of the loan shares was due to take place during the year 
2012 according to an individual schedule agreed with the loan holders. Some 
of the redemptions were carried out in may-June 2012, and the amount to be 
redeemed by 31 December 2012 was EUR 2,405,950.27.

According to the provisions of the agreement, one subscriber of the 2012 
convertible loan has the right to terminate the financing agreement in case 
the redemption of the 2007 convertible loan is not taken place by the end of 
the year 2012. This subscriber, whose loan units in the convertible loan amount 
to EUR 999,000, has confirmed after the end of the financial period 2012 that 
it will not use the right to terminate the agreement now but has prolonged its 
termination right until 30 June 2013. 

In January 2013, after the end of the financial period, Incap concluded its 
negotiations concerning the final redemption of the convertible loan. The 
company redeemed out of the remaining loan units a total of EUR 1.0 million 
in January 2013. Furthermore, a part of the loan with respective interest, i.e. 
a total of EUR 0.4 million, was converted to Incap’s shares by means of a private 
placement issued on 30 January 2013 to one holder of the convertible loan. 
The final redemption of the 2007 convertible loan, EUR 1.0 million including 
interest, was agreed to be settled by the end of June 2013.

The arrangement of the convertible loan 2007 has been described in the 
note 24, as are the forthcoming instalments and interests.

To assess its liquidity, Incap has prepared a 12-month cash flow projection 
for the Group covering a period that includes the financial statements for 2013. 
The cash flow projection is based on the performance forecast than has been 
prepared in connection with the financial statements and will be updated 
monthly, as well as on the actual turnover of sales receivables, accounts pay-
able and inventories. Since the profit levels used in calculations do not reflect 
the actual past development, there is an element of remarkable uncertainty 
associated with them�

When evaluated on the basis of the present situation, Incap’s working 
capital will not cover the requirement for the next 12 months. However, the 
company’s working capital will be sufficient for the next 12 months if the fol-
lowing criteria are met:
• the company’s potential share issue and financing arrangements succeed 

as planned, so that the company obtains funds for working capital 
funding and the final redemption of the 2007 convertible loan in June 
2013; and

• the bank accepts the terms and conditions for the drawing down of the 
additional loan; and

• the goals for the company’s result and inventory turnover rate are 
achieved; and

• the covenants for the company’s loans from credit institutions are met, 
or, should the covenants not be met, the bank decides not to exercise its 
right to terminate the loan agreements�

Incap’s management is confident that the share issue planned by the company 
will succeed and the company will be able to redeem the convertible loan as 
agreed. The strategic restructuring has been carried out as planned; the com-
pany closed down the Helsinki plant in the summer 2012 and transferred its 
production to other units. In addition, in January 2013 the company started 
co-operative negotiations with the Group Services personnel, with the aim of 
reorganising the company’s administration and improving the efficiency of 
operations significantly. These measures and other development projects are 
expected to improve profitability. In addition, the company will continue to 
take measures to ensure that the goals for the company’s result and inventory 
turnover are achieved�

Thus, the company estimates that it will be able to cover any possible work-
ing capital deficit and ensure that the covenants related to the financing agree-
ments are met. Should the covenants not be met and the financiers inform 
the company that they will make use of the covenants to terminate the agree-
ments, the company would need to initiate negotiations on the rearrangement 
of funding and on gaining new equity or debt financing.

capital management
The aim of the Group’s capital management activities is to support business 
operations with an optimal capital structure by ensuring normal resources for 
operations and increasing shareholder value with the goal of generating the 
best possible return. An optimal capital structure also guarantees smaller 
capital expenses� 

The trend in the Group’s capital structure is constantly tracked with gearing. 
On 31 December 2012, the Group’s interest-bearing net liabilities totalled EUR 
19.8 million (EUR 24.5 at 31 Dec 2011) and its gearing was -659% (1,868% at 31 
Dec 2011). Gearing is calculated by dividing interest-bearing net liabilities by 
equity. net liabilities equal interest-bearing liabilities less interest-bearing 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents. On 31 December 2012, the equity 
ratio was -10.3% (3.3% at 31 Dec 2011).
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27. FAIR VAlUES OF FInAncIAl ASSETS AnD lIABIlITIES

The fair values of financial assets do not differ from their carrying amount.

financial liabilities Carrying amount 2012 fair value 2012 Carrying amount 2011 fair value 2011

Bank loans 12,558 12,558 15,129 15,131

Pension loans 0 0 0 0

convertible bond 5,291 5,926 6,735 6,709

capital loan 600 600 0 0

Other interest-bearing loans 1,899 1,899 2,155 2,155

Finance lease liabilities 103 103 833 833

Trade and other payables 11,841 11,841 13,109 13,109

The fair value of current liabilities do not differ materially from their carrying amount.

discount rates applied in determining fair value 2012 2011

Bank and other loans 1.84‒10.00% 1.86–10.00%

On the date of the financial statements, the company has no financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss.

28. ADJUSTmEnTS TO cASH FlOWS FROm OPERATIOnS

2012 2011

non-cash transactions -574 187

Depreciation and impairment losses 1,460 2,040

change in finance lease agreements 
due to IfRs adjustments 0

lease payments in cash flow from 
financing activities 0

Employee benefits expense -5 2

Transfer of capital gains on tangible 
assets to cash flow from investments 0

Gains (‒) and losses (+) of disposals 
of fixed assets and other non-current 
assets -153 -72

728 2,157

29. OPERATInG lEASES

The Group has leased the production and office space it uses, except for the 
premises of the Vuokatti factory. Part of these agreements are in force until 
further notice, whereas the length of others is up to a maximum of five years. 
The termination periods of lease agreements in force until further notice vary 
from one to eighteen months. lease agreements ending on a fixed date include 
an option of continuing the agreement after the original expiry date. The index, 
renewal and other terms of the agreements differ from each other.

non-cancellable operating leases also include equipment leases, which are 
not classified as finance leases under IFRS.

the group as lessee
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, excluding 
value added tax

2012 2011

less than 1 year 1,233 1,396

1–5 years 566 445

1,798 1,841

The income statement for 2012 includes EUR 1.8 million of lease expenses paid 
for operating leases (EUR 1.8 million in 2011). 
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30. cOllATERAl AnD cOnTInGEnT AnD RElATED lIABIlITIES

Collateral given on behalf of own 
commitments 2012 2011

mortgages 2,196 2,230

Business mortgages 12,113 10,113

Repurchase liability for trade 
receivables sold to finance 
companies 5,265 7,452

31. RElATED-PARTY TRAnSAcTIOnS

management's employee benefits 2012 2011

salaries and other current employee 
benefits 912 796

Benefits in connection with 
termination of employment 39 0

Benefits after end of employment 0 0

Other long-term employee benefits 0 0

Share-based payment 0 0

951 796

The President and cEO’s period of notice is six months, and if his contract is 
terminated by the company, he will be paid the salary during the period of 
notice. The pension benefits of the President and cEO and the other members 
of the Group management team are determined in accordance with the 
Employment Pensions Act (TEl).

Wages and salaries 2012 2011

President and ceO 267 258

Board members

Kalevi laurila 48 48

Susanna miekk-oja 24 36

Kari Häyrinen 0 24

lassi noponen 36 24

Raimo Helasmäki 24 24

matti Jaakola 24 0

The wages and salaries for the Board of Directors cover the full term of office 
for Board members from 11 April 2012 until 10 April 2013. The members of the 
company’s Board of Directors and the President and ceO and their interest 

parties and controlled corporations owned a total of 4,512,174 shares, or 21.6% 
of the company’s shares outstanding and voting rights. 

Incap has made an investment of EUR 0.3 million in the venture capital 
fund cleantech Future Fund, which is investing in cleantech business and tech-
nologies. A member of the Board, lassi noponen, is a partner at cleantech 
invest ltd�, which is managing the fund� 

32. EVEnTS OccURRInG AFTER THE BAlAncE SHEET DATE

In January 2013, Incap started two co-operative negotiations in accordance 
with the Act on co-operation with the personnel of its Vaasa plant and with 
the personnel working in its corporate services in Finland. The outcome of the 
negotiations in Vaasa is that, if necessary, the personnel of the Vaasa plant will 
be laid off temporarily for a maximum of 90 days. Eventual temporary lay-offs 
will take place by the end of June, and their need will be evaluated weekly 
based on the order book.

On 17 January 2013, Incap published a release about a financing arrange-
ment that was related to the redemption of the convertible loan issued in 2007. 
Incap redeemed out of the remaining loan units a total of EUR 1.0 million in 
cash payment in January 2013. Furthermore, a part of the loan with respective 
interest, i.e. a total of EUR 0.4 million, was converted to Incap’s shares by 
means of a private placement to one holder of the convertible loan. The final 
redemption of the 2007 convertible loan including interest, EUR 1.0 million, 
will be settled by the end of June 2013.

On 30 January, the Board of Directors of Incap corporation arranged a 
private placement with which the company redeemed a part of the convert-
ible loan issued in 2007. One holder of the convertible loan was given, as 
compensation for the holder’s loan units, altogether 1,697,286 new shares in 
the company. The imputed subscription price of the shares was EUR 0.22 per 
share. The new shares equal approximately 8.1% of the total number of shares 
of the company before the share issue. After the registration of the new shares, 
the total number of Incap corporation’s shares is 22,546,266.

In connection with the negotiations concerning the redemption of the 
convertible loan, three of Incap corporation’s major shareholders granted the 
company a capital loan of EUR 1.05 million, with a loan period of three years 
and at an interest rate of 10%. The loan conditions include the right to set off 
eventual subscription price of shares in a share issue arranged by the company.

On 30 January 2013, Incap finalised the financing negotiations with a Finn-
ish bank and drew down one half of the loan of EUR 1.5 million granted to the 
company. The remaining loan instalment can be drawn down by 29 July 2013 
after a separate confirmation given by the bank. 
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Parent company Income statement

1,000 euros note 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Revenue 1 44,746 54,311

changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 3 -359 -166

Other operating income 2 386 246

 

Raw materials and services 3 35,328 43,321

Personnel expenses 4 6,549 8,068

Depreciaton, amortisation and impairment losses 5 431 549

Other operating expenses 6 4,273 3,842

operating profit/loss -1,808 -1,389

financial income and expenses 7 -456 -1,108

Profit/loss before extraordinary items -2,264 -2,497

  

extraordinary items 0 0

Profit/loss before appropriations and taxes -2,264 -2,497

Appropriations 8 25 124

Income taxes 9 -3,267 0

Profit/loss for the financial year -5,506 -2,373
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Parent company Balance sheet

1,000 euros note 31 dec 2012 31 dec 2011

assets

non-current assets

Intangible assets 10 208 263

Tangible assets 10 1,796 2,136

Investments 11

holdings in Group companies 13,940 13,940

Other investments 311 311

total non-current assets 16,255 16,651

Current assets

Inventories 12 1,963 3,088

Deferred tax assets 13 0 3,267

non-current receivables 13 9,846 9,118

current receivables 13 7,772 11,324

cash in hand and at bank 47 16

  

total current assets 19,628 26,813

total assets 35,884 43,464

liaBilities

equity 14

share capital 20,487 20,487

share premium account 44 44

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 4,919 4,160

Retained earnings -11,880 -9,507

Profit for the financial year -5,506 -2,373

total equity 8,064 12,811

  

appropriations 0 25

  

liabilities

non-current liabilities 15 2,517 0

current liabilities 16 25,303 30,628

total liabilities 27,820 30,628

total equity and liabilities 35,884 43,464
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Parent company’s cash flow statement

1,000 euros 1 Jan–31 dec 2012 1 Jan–31 dec 2011

Cash flow from operating activities

Operating profit/loss -1,808 -1,389

Adjustments to operating profit/loss -227 434

change in working capital 5,315 -1,348

Interest paid -1,567 -1,309

Interest received 132 226

Cash flow from operating activities 1,845 -3,386

Cash flows from investing activities

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -44 -66

Investment in subsidiary -58 -30

capital investment fund -61 -80

Proceeds from sales of tangible and intangible assets 110 71

Repayments of loan receivables 0 0

Cash flow from investing activities -53 -105

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from share issue 759 0

Drawdown of loans 1,600 4,173

loan repayments -4,120 -796

Cash flow from financing activities -1,761 3,377

  

Change in cash and cash equivalents 31 -115

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 16 131

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 47 16

Change in working capital

Increase in current trade receivables 2,795 -3,413

Increase in inventories 1,325 473

Increase in current liabilities 1,195 1,592

5,315 -1,348
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notes to the Parent company 
financial statements

accOUntInG POlIcIes

principles Of measurement and periOdisatiOn
non-current assets
non-current tangible and intangible assets are recorded in the balance sheet 
at historical cost less depreciation according to plan and amortisation. Invest-
ment grants received have been entered as a credit to the corresponding asset 
item. Depreciation according to plan has been calculated according to the 
straight-line method on the basis of the useful life of the property, plant and 
equipment�

intangiBle assets
• Goodwill 5–6 years
• Goodwill on consolidation  5 years
• Other intangible rights  3–5 years

tangiBle assets
• Buildings and structures  18–24 years
• machinery and equipment 3–10 years
• Vehicle fleet 3–5 years

inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of historical cost under fIfO or the 
repurchase value or selling price. The value of inventories includes variable 
expenses and their share in the fixed expenses of procurements and manufac-
turing�

financial assets and management of financial risks
Trade receivables and payables are not exposed to significant interest rate or 
foreign currency risks. The company has however carried out hedging meas-
ures against exchange rate fluctuations during the financial year according to 
the company’s protection policy.

foreign currency transactions
Items denominated in foreign currency have been translated at the average 
rate stated by the European central Bank at the balance sheet date. Exchange 
differences between sales and purchases have been allocated as a credit or 
debit to said items.

leases
In the parent company’s financial statements, lease payments for property, 
plant and equipment obtained on a finance lease are included as lease 
expenses in other operating expenses.

Research and development expenditure
Research and development expenditure in 2012 has been treated as annual 
expenses within other operating expenses.

Periodisation of pension expenses
Employees’ pension security including supplementary benefits has been 
insured with pension insurance companies� Pension expenses are recognised 
as an expense during their year of accrual�

income taxes
Incap corporation has, for taxation purposes, unused losses which have been 
approved and can be utilised in the years 2013–2022. Parent company’s 
deferred tax assets of EUR 3.3 million have been recorded as an expense in 
the financial statements for 2012. There are no longer prerequisites based on 
IAS 12 standard to keep deferred tax assets in the balance sheet, because the 
company has in the near past made losses and it has, besides the estimates 
for the future, no other convincing proof for the fact that the company will 
produce enough taxable income, against of which the tax losses could be uti-
lised

Deferred tax assets are described in more detail in note 16, Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities, to the consolidated financial statements.

impairment testing of shares in subsidiaries 
The value of shares in subsidiaries in the parent group is the acquisition cost 
plus subsequent investments to strengthen the equity of the subsidiaries. The 
value of the shares has a significant impact on the parent company’s equity 
ratio and therefore on, for example, shareholders’ equity. The impairment 
testing of shares in subsidiaries has been carried out on the basis of the situ-
ation at the end of December 2012. 

The recoverable amounts used in the impairment test calculations are 
determined on the basis of value in use. The cash flow forecasts are based on 
the budget for the next financial period and four-year business plan prepared 
by the management and ratified by the Board of Directors. 

Based on the calculations, there are no indications of impairment of the 
shares in the subsidiaries. Since the levels of revenue and operating profit 
before depreciation used in the calculations do not reflect the actual develop-
ment during the preceding years, there is an element of remarkable uncer-
tainty associated with them�
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1. REVEnUE

Revenue by market area 1.1.–31.12.2012 1.1.–31.12.2011

finland 36,649 43,784

europe 7,770 8,402

Other 327 2,125

44,746 54,311

2. OTHER OPERATInG IncOmE

2012 2011

capital gains on the sale of property, 
plant and equipment 365 227

Other income 22 19

386 246

3. RAW mATERIAlS AnD SERVIcES

2012 2011

Raw materials and consumables

Purchases during the financial year 14,287 17,518

change in inventories 1,127 463

15,413 17,980

external services 20,274 25,507

35,687 43,487

4. PERSOnnEl ExPEnSES AnD nUmBER OF PERSOnnEl

2012 2011

average number of employees

White-collar 44 60

Blue-collar 91 111

135 171

Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries 5,363 6,586

Pension expenses 894 1,150

Other social security expenses 291 331

6,549 8,068

salaries and bonus of 
the management

President and the Board 423 414

423 414

5. DEPREcIATIOn AnD AmORTISATIOn 

Depreciation according to plan in 2012 totalled EUR 0.4 million (EUR 0.5 million 
in 2011). The specification of depreciation and amortisation for individual bal-
ance sheet items is included in the item 10 Property, plant and equipment. The 
depreciation and amortisation periods are presented in the accounting policies.
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6. OTHER OPERATInG ExPEnSE

2012 2011

lease payments 1,227 1,642

maintenance expenses for 
machinery and properties 1,200 1,017

Other expenses 1,846 1,183

4,273 3,842

auditors fees

KHT-Group Ernst & Young Oy 
Auditing fees 23 17

certificates and statements 0 0

tax advice 0 2

Other services 54 10

77 29

7. FInAncIAl IncOmE AnD ExPEnSES

2012 2011

Dividend income

from other companies 1 2

Other interest and financial income   

from Group companies 0 0

from other companies 1,141 241

Interest paid and other financial 
expenses

to other companies -1,599 -1,350

-456 -1,108

Reduction in the redemption value of the convertible loan (accord) by EUR 1 
million is recorded in financing income in 2012.

8. APPROPRIATIOnS

2012 2011

Difference between depreciation 
according to plan and depreciation 
for taxation purposes. 25 124

9. IncOmE TAxES

2012 2011

change in deferred tax asset -3,267 0

The change in deferred tax asset has been described more in detail in the 
consolidated Financial Statements’ note 16 Deferred tax asset.
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10. PROPERTY, PlAnT AnD EQUIPmEnT

intangible assets

intangible rights goodwill
other long-term 

expenditure total

acquisition cost, 1 Jan 2012 1,721 16,337 1,689 19,747

Increase 0 0 35 35

Decrease 0 0 0 0

acquisition cost, 31 dec 2012 1,721 16,337 1,724 19,782

 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, 1 Jan 2012 -1,480 -16,337 -1,667 -19,484

cumulative depreciation of decreases and reclassifications 0 0 0 0

Amortisation during the year -70 0 -21 -91

accumulated amortisation, 31 dec 2012 -1,550 -16,337 -1,688 -19,575

 

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2012 172 0 36 208

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2011 242 0 22 263

Part of the issuing expenses resulting from the issue of convertible loan 2012 was recognised as other long-term expenditure. Of this amount, EUR 30,997.80 
remained at the close of the financial year.

tangible assets

land buildings
machinery and 

equipment
other tangible 

assets

advance payments 
and work in 

progress total

acquisition cost, 1 Jan 2012 56 4,633 24,723 544 0 29,956

Increase 0 0 16 0 0 16

Decrease 0 0 -270 0 0 -270

Reclassifications between items 0 0 0 0 0 0

acquisition cost, 31 dec 2012 56 4,633 24,469 544 0 29,702

 

accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, 1 Jan 2012 0 -2,996 -24,285 -539 0 -27,820

cumulative depreciation on 
reclassifications and disposals 0 0 254 0 0 254

Depreciation during the year 0 -243 -94 -3 0 -340

accumulated depreciation, 31 
dec 2012 0 -3,240 -24,124 -542 0 -27,905

 

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2012 56 1,393 345 2 0 1,796

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2011 56 1,636 439 5 0 2,136

The fair price estimate given by catella Property Oy on 23 January 2012 clearly exceeds the book value of the property on 31 December 2012.
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11. InVESTmEnTS

holdings in group 
companies

Receivables from  
group companies other shares total

acquisition cost, 1 Jan 2012 10,164 3,776 311 14,251

Increase 0 0 0 0

acquisition cost, 31 dec 2012 10,164 3,776 311 14,251

 

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2012 10,164 3,776 311 14,251

carrying amount, 31 Dec 2011 10,164 3,776 311 14,251

Should the revenue used in the testing decrease by 7% in India or by 13% 
in Estonia, or should the discount rate increase by a maximum of 1,5% in Esto-
nia and a maximum of 3% in India, there would be no need for write-down of 
shares� 

Since the levels of revenue and operating profit before depreciation used 
in the impairment test calculations do not reflect the actual development 
during preceding years, there is an element of significant uncertainty associ-
ated with them�

grOup cOmpanies
Incap Electronics Estonia OÜ, Kuressaare, Estonia
Incap contract manufacturing services Pvt� ltd�, Bangalore, India
Euro-ketju Oy, Helsinki, Finland
Incap hong Kong limited, hong Kong

Incap corporation owns 100% of Incap Electronics Estonia OÜ and Incap Hong 
Kong ltd and 77,5% of Incap contract manufacturing Services Pvt. ltd. Share 
capital investment of Finnfund is 22,5% of the share capital of Incap contract 
manufacturing Services Pvt. ltd. All companies are combined in the parent 
company consolidated financial statements.

12. InVEnTORIES

2012 2011

Raw materials and consumables 1,220 1,777

Work in progress 196 275

finished goods 542 1,033

advance payments for inventory 5 3

1,963 3,088

The Group’s equity at the close of the financial period was EUR -3.0 million 
(EUR 1.3 million in 2011) while the parent company’s equity was EUR 8.1 million 
(EUR 12.8 million in 2011). The equity of the Group is weakened by the loss of 
the parent company�

The value of shares in subsidiaries in the parent group is the acquisition 
cost plus subsequent investments to strengthen the equity of the subsidiaries. 
In the financial statements of the parent company, the value of the Indian 
subsidiary’s shares in the balance sheet is approx. EUR 8.8 million and the value 
of the Estonian subsidiary approx. EUR 5.1 million. The value of the shares in 
subsidiaries has a significant impact on the parent company’s equity and there-
fore on, for example, equity ratio. The impairment testing of shares in sub-
sidiaries has been carried out based on the situation at the end of December 
2012. The recoverable amounts used in the impairment test calculations are 
determined on the basis of use value.

The cash flow forecasts are based on the budget for the next financial 
period and the four-year business plan prepared by the management and 
ratified by the Board of Directors. In cash flow estimates, the growth of revenue 
during the years 2013‒2016 is 8‒9% in India and 5‒15% in Estonia. In the cal-
culations, the operating profit before depreciation is 9‒12% in India and 1‒5% 
in Estonia. The discount rate is comprised of industry risk, interest on liabilities 
and country-specific risk. The discount rate factors are updated annually in 
connection with the testing using information received from the market. In 
the calculations for the financial period 2012, the discount rate of 16.0% has 
been used in India and 11.5% in Estonia.
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13. ASSETS

2012 2011

non-current

Amount owed by Group companies

Trade receivables 9,846 9,118

Trade receivables from other Group companies, which are not supposed to 
be realised during the next 12 months after the end of the financial period, 
have been transferred from current to non-current receivables. The subsidiar-
ies Incap Electronics Estonia OÜ and Incap Hong Kong ltd have not been able 
to settle the trade payables to the parent company during the year 2012 due 
to their weak profitability. The parent company has non-current trade receiv-
ables amounting to EUR 7.1 milion from its subsidiary Incap Electronics Estonia 
OÜ and current trade payables amounting to EUR 5.0 million to Incap Electron-
ics Estonia OÜ.

The corporate services which are today produced by the parent company 
will be transferred to the subsidiaries, whereby their liquidity improves and 
they are able to settle their trade payables. However, there is an element of 
uncertainty associated with the liquidity� 

Deferred tax asset 0 3,267

 

Current

Trade receivables 7,107 10,978

 

Amount owed by Group companies

Trade receivables 235 59

Interest receivables 0 0

Other receivables 0 0

 235 59

Other receivables 5 0

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 425 287

total receivables 17,619 23,709

material items in accrued income

Personnel expenses 203 0

salaries for the Board of Directors 39 33

expenses of the share issue in 2013 45 0

Rents 37 159

Other 101 95

total 425 287

14. EQUITY

2012 2011

Subscribed capital, 1 Jan 20,487 20,487

Subscribed capital, 31 Dec 20,487 20,487

share premium account, 1 Jan 44 44

share premium account, 31 Dec 44 44

 

total restricted equity 20,531 20,531

 

Reserve for invested unrestricted 
equity 1�1� 4,160 4,160

share issue 759 0

Reserve for invested unrestricted 
equity 31�12� 4,919 4,160

Retained earnings, 1 Jan -11,880 -9,507

Recording of previous years’ 
depreciation differences 0 0

Retained earnings, 31 Dec -11,880 -9,507

Profit for the financial year -5,506 -2,373

 

total non-restricted equity -12,467 -7,720

total equity 8,064 12,811

distributable funds

Reserve for invested unrestricted 
equity 4,919 4,160

Retained earnings -11,880 -9,507

Profit for the financial year -5,506 -2,373

-12,467 -7,720

the parent company’s equity is less than half of the share capital� 

Equity capital on 31 December 2012 8,064

capital loan 600

equity according to the companies 
Act, chapter 20, § 23 8,664

half of the share capital 10,243

Deficit -1,579

Due to the equity of Incap Group’s parent company decreasing to less than a 
half of the share capital the Board of Directors of Incap corporation has taken 
steps to convene the Annual General meeting to decide on measures to con-
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solidate the company’s operations. The Board of Directors together with the 
management is preparing an action plan to ensure the company’s profitability 
in 2013.

15. nOn-cURREnT lIABIlITIES

2012 2011

capital loan 600 0

loans from credit institutions 0 0

Pension loans 0 0

convertible loan 1,917 0

Other liabilities 0 0

2,517 0

All liabilities are falling due after five years. non-current bank loans amounting 
to EUR 3.5 million have been transferred to current financing liabilities due to 
the breach of covenants.

Capital loan
In connection with the negotiations concerning the redemption of the convert-
ible loan 2007, three of Incap corporation’s major shareholders granted the 
company a capital loan of EUR 1.05 million, with a loan period of three years 
and at an interest rate of 10%. Of the capital loan, EUR 0.6 million was drawn 
on 28 December 2012 and recorded in the financial statements for 2012. 
According to the loan conditions, upon the liquidation or the bankruptcy of 
the parent company, the capital and the interest may only be paid at a lower 
privilege in comparison to all other debts. Otherwise the capital or the interest 
may be returned only for the part that the unrestricted equity and capital loans 
of the parent company at the time of the payment exceed balance sheet losses 
confirmed for the parent company’s latest financial period or included in more 
recent financial statements. no security has been provided for interest on the 
capital or for the loan. The loan interest is recognised as an expense on a time 
apportionment basis. Unless the prerequisites set in the Finnish limited liabil-
ity companies Act for payment of interest are fulfilled, the interest may not 
encumber the result for the financial period. The interest is presented as inter-
est liability in the notes for the parent company. 

16. cURREnT lIABIlITIES

2012 2011

loans from credit institutions 10,333 12,797

Pension loans 0 0

convertible bond 3,405 6,750

Trade payables 3,272 3,275

 

Amount owed to Group companies:

Trade payables 5,051 3,651

Other liabilities 0 66

 

advances received 0 0

Other liabilities 1,887 2,118

accruals and deferred income 1,355 1,972

25,303 30,628

 

Total interest-bearing liabilities 13,738 19,804

 

material items in accruals and 
deferred income

Wages and salaries, incl. social costs 800 1,258

lease payment liabilities 0 51

Interest 403 364

expense reserve 55 55

Other 97 243

1,355 1,972

 

Other current liabilities

Reserves 48 422

tax account 1,192 1

Others 647 1,695

1,887 2,118

Incap has reached an agreement with the Finnish Tax Administration on the 
payment arrangement related to overdue value-added taxes, withholding taxes 
and social security contributions. The total amount of the tax liabilities within 
the scope of this arrangement is approximately EUR 1.2 million. Each instalment 
amounts to EUR 57,700.00 and it is paid monthly. The last payment will take 
place on 22 August 2014. Eventual sanction of a delay (penalty interest and 
additional tax) is a reference rate for the preceding 6 months in accordance 
with the tax law 12 § plus seven (7) percentage unit. In 2013 the interest per-
centage is 8. According to the provisions of the agreement, if an instalment is 
late, the Finnish Tax Administration has the right to terminate the agreement 
with immediate effect.
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17. OTHER nOTES TO THE AccOUnTS

Collateral 2012 2011

loans for which real-estate has been 
mortgaged as collateral

loans from credit institutions:

mortgages 1,504 1,504

 

loans for which business mortgages 
have been given as collateral

loans from credit institutions

mortgages 12,113 10,113

 

collateral given on behalf of the 
Group companies

mortgages 13,617 11,617

Guarantees on behalf of Group 
companies

Contingent and other liabilities

lease liabilities, net of VAT

liabilities falling due next year 142 555

liabilities falling due after one year 102 157

Finance leases include the option to buy acquired fixed assets at fair value 
at the end of the lease period�

Repurchase liability for trade 
receivables sold to finance 
companies 5,265 7,452

lease liabilities for the Group's 
premises 251 806

18. ExPEnSES nOT REcOGnISED AS cOSTS

Because the prerequisites for the payment of interest for the capital loan of 
EUR 0.6 million are not fullfilled as set by the Finnish limited liability compa-
nies Act 12:1.2, the cumulative interest has not been recorded in the financial 
statements of the parent company�
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Board of Directors’ proposal on  
measures related to the operating result

The parent company’s loss for the financial period totalled EUR 5,505,693.92. The Board will propose to the Annual General 
meeting on 10 April 2013 that no dividend be paid and the loss for the financial period be recognised in equity. 

Helsinki, 25 February 2013

Kalevi laurila   lassi noponen
chairman of the Board   Deputy chairman of the Board

Raimo Helasmäki   Susanna miekk-oja

matti Jaakola

Sami mykkänen
President and ceO
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TO THE AnnUAl GEnERAl mEETInG OF IncAP OYJ
We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, the report 
of the Board of Directors, and the administration of Incap Oyj for the year 
ended 31 December, 2012. The financial statements comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position, income statement, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of cash flows, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement, 
cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements.

respOnsiBility Of the BOard Of directOrs and 
the managing directOr
The Board of Directors and the managing Director are responsible for the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU, as well as for the preparation of financial statements and 
the report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors in finland� the Board of Direc-
tors is responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of the com-
pany’s accounts and finances, and the managing Director shall see to it that 
the accounts of the company are in compliance with the law and that its finan-
cial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner.

auditOr’s respOnsiBility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements, on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the report of the Board of Directors 
based on our audit. The Auditing Act requires that we comply with the require-
ments of professional ethics. We conducted our audit in accordance with good 
auditing practice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of Directors are free from material 
misstatement, and whether the members of the Board of Directors of the 
parent company and the managing Director are guilty of an act or negligence 
which may result in liability in damages towards the company or have violated 
the limited liability companies Act or the articles of association of the com-
pany�

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the report of the 
Board of Directors� the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers inter-
nal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements and 
report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s inter-
nal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of account-
ing policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of Directors� 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

auditor’s report 
OpiniOn On the cOnsOlidated financial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of the group 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU. 

OpiniOn On the cOmpany’s financial statements and 
the repOrt Of the BOard Of directOrs  
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Direc-
tors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and the parent com-
pany’s financial performance and financial position in accordance with the 
laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements 
and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The information in the 
report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the finan-
cial statements� 

emphasis Of matters 
Without qualifying our opinion, we want to draw attention to the issues 
described in the report of the Board of Directors and in paragraph 26 of the 
notes to the financial statements about the company’s financing and suffi-
ciency of working capital. According to the cash flow forecast, the company’s 
working capital does not correspond with the company’s needs for the next 
12 months. According to the company’s estimate the additional working capi-
tal requirement is about EUR 4-6 million. The matters in the report of the Board 
of Directors and in the notes to the financial statements indicate the existence 
of significant uncertainty which may cast a significant doubt about the com-
pany’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

In addition, without qualifying our opinion, we want to draw attention to 
the valuation of the subsidiary shares and related significant uncertainty, which 
is described in section 11 in notes to the financial statements of the parent 
company�

auditOr’s nOtificatiOn in accOrdance  
With seCuRities maRket aCt 7:8 § 
Without qualifying our opinion, we want to draw attention to the section 
“Information related to the liquidity risk and continuity of operations in the 
interim report for January-June” in the report of the Board of Directors. The 
company’s Interim Report for January-June has not complied with all the 
requirements of IAS 34 standard. The company has later provided the missing 
information in a prospectus and a separate stock exchange release on 14.9.2012.

Helsinki, march 18, 2013

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Jari Karppinen
Authorized Public Accountant
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five-year Key figures

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

ifrs ifrs ifrs ifrs ifrs

Revenue eUR million 64�1 68�9 59�2 69�8 93�9

Growth % -7 16 -15 -26 13

Operating profit eUR million -0�7 -1�6 -3�2 -5�0 -3�6

share of revenue % -1 -2 -5 -7 -4

Profit before taxes eUR million -1�4 -4�0 -4�9 -6�7 -5�4

share of revenue  % -2 -6 -8 -10 -6

 

Return on equity (ROE) % 1) 3) 580�8 -115�3 -81�0 -68�5 -33�4

Return on investment (ROI) % 1) -12�6 -5�1 -10�6 -15�9 -8�6

total assets eUR million 29�3 39�27 42�6 39�7 48�9

  

Equity ratio % 1) -10�3 3�3 13�2 16�2 27�0

Gearing % 1) -659�4 1867�7 383�0 319�8 146�1

net debt eUR million 18�9 21�8 21�7 21�3 20�7

Quick ratio 0�5 0�4 0�6 0�5 0�6

current ratio 0�8 0�7 1�0 1�1 1�2

 

Investments eUR million 0�1 0�3 0�5 1�1 1�8

share of revenue % 0 0 1 2 2

R&D expenditure eUR million 0�1 0�1 0�05 0�1 0�5

share of revenue % 0 0 0 0 1

 

Average number of employees 697 749 780 751 735

Dividends eUR million 2) 0 0 0 0 0

1) Key figures have been calculated in accordance with the standard 5.1 of Financial Supervision Authority.
2) The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General meeting that no dividend be paid out.
3) In the calculation of return on equity, the numerator and the denominator are negative.
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2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

ifrs ifrs ifrs ifrs ifrs

Per-share data

earnings per share eUR -0�25 -0�21 -0�33 -0�55 -0�44

equity per share eUR -0�14 0�07 0�30 0�53 1�08

Dividend per share eUR 1) 0 0 0 0 0

Dividend out of profit % 1) 0 0 0 0 0

Effective dividend yield % 1) 0 0 0 0 0

P/E ratio -0�8 -2�0 -1�7 -1�2 -1�2

 

trend in share price

minimum price during year eUR 0�15 0�37 0�49 0�43 0�49

maximum price during year eUR 0�65 0�64 0�75 0�99 1�60

mean price during year eUR 0�30 0�52 0�63 0�63 1�02

closing price at end of year eUR 0�19 0�42 0�57 0�67 0�55

 

Total market capitalisation at 31 Dec eUR million 4�0 7�8 10�6 8�2 6�7

trade volume no� of shares 2,952,411 746,382 5,211,956 2,986,054 1,651,176

trade volume % 14 4 39 25 14

  

share issue-adjusted number of shares    

mean number during year 20,067,042 18,680,880 14,682,250 12,180,880 12,180,880

number at end of year 20,848,980 18,680,880 18,680,880 12,180,880 12,180,880

1) The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General meeting that no dividend be paid out.
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Return on equity, % =
 100 x profit/loss

  equity (mean for financial year) 

Return on investment, % = 
100 x (profit/loss + financial expenses)

  equity + interest-bearing loans (mean for financial year)

Equity ratio, % = 
100 x equity 

  total assets less advance payments received

Gearing, % = 
100 x (interest-bearing liabilities less cash and cash equivalents)

  equity 

net debt = liabilities less financial assets

Quick ratio = 
financial assets

  short-term liabilities – current advance payments received

current ratio = 
financial assets + inventories

  current liabilities

Investments = purchases of property, plant and equipment net of VAT and including investment subsidies

Average number of employees = average number of employees at end of month

Definitions of Key Figures

Per-share data

Earnings per share = 
net profit

  share issue-adjusted mean number of shares during financial year

Equity per share = 
equity 

  share issue-adjusted number of shares at end of financial year

Dividend per share = 
dividend during financial year

  share issue-adjusted number of dividend-earning shares at end of financial year

Dividend out of profit, % = 
100 x dividend per share

  earnings per share

Effective dividend yield, % = 
100 x dividend per share

  last price at balance sheet date

Price per earnings (P/E) ratio = 
last price at balance sheet date

  earnings per share

Total market capitalisation = last price at balance sheet date x number of shares in issue
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